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The Witness : They are not named on the table 
itself. 

Mr. McGohey: May I inquire, ar,e they different 
from the six panels we were talking about this 
morning~ 

Mr. Gladstein: Well, this morning we were talk-
ing about panels that went back into 1947. 

Mr. McGohey : That is all I am trying to find 
out. 

Mr. Gladstein: Whereas now he is talking about 
six panels concerning which he had 1948 registration 
figures-

The Court: That is right. He may indicate 
which ones they are. 

Mr. McGohey: That is all I wanted to find 
out. 

Mr. Gladstein: That is just what he is going to 
tell you. 

The V\Titness: The panels were those on Novem­
ber 3, 1948 ; November 15, 1948; December 7, 1948; 
December 20, 1948; January 4, 1948 and January­

Mr. McGohey: 1949, you mean~ 
(2507) The Witness: 1949, thank you, and 

January 17th, the first listing, 1949, representing 
altogether-well, those were the panels-

Q. Six panels~ A. That is right. 
Q. Now, are the tabulations made and the data appear­

ing on No. 98 for identification true and correct~ A. They 
are. 

Q. And fairly and accurately state what they purport 
to represent~ A. They do. 

Mr. Gladstein: I offer it. 
Mr. McGohey: Objection. 
Mr. Gladstein: Does your Honor wish to see it 

before passing on it~ 
The Court: I have it before me, I am studying it. 

Just a moment. · 
Mr. Gladstein: Very well, your Honor. 
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The Court: What does that expression ''major 
excluded areas'' mean 1 

Q. Mr. Wilkerson, will you answer the Court 1 

The Court: You have got the Congressional Dis­
tricts, 18, 19, 22, 23 and 24, and in parenthesis 
there-

The Witness: Thos·e happened to be the Congres-
sional Districts from which the fewest number of 
jurors are chosen, so we grouped them together as 
(2508) the major--

The Court: So you used the designation "major 
excluded areas" despite the fact that there were 
some jurors fron1 each of those areas 1 

The Witness: That is correct. As I said, from 
which relatively few were chosen. 

The Court: I know you say there are relatively 
few. Now, let me just look through this. This chart 
has nothing to do with political affiliations has it~ 

Mr. Gladstein: No, it does not have ~ny break­
down of Republican Party, Democratic Party or 
American Labor Party, your Honor. 

The Court: I will overrule the objection. 
Mr. Gladstein: V·ery well. 

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 98 for identifica­
tion received in evidence.) 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Now, Mr. Wilkerson, what does No. 98 in evidence 
show that does not appear on its face and requires explana­
tion or being pointed out to the Court for its attention~ 
.... >\... I am sorry, Mr. Gladstein, but I don't have a copy of 
that before me. Could you make one available~ 

Mr. Gladstein: I will let you have the one that 
is actually in evidence, Mr. Wilkerson (handing). 

( 2509) The Witness : Thank you. 
Challenge Exhibit No. 98-
The Court: Now, that other one before was the 

enrolled political affiliations, wasn't it, those two that 
were marked 96 and 97 for identification~ 
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Mr. Gladstein: 97 has no breakdown as to 
political parties, only 96, and I think in view of your 
Honor's ruling that No. 97 should be received in 
evidence, and I will renew the offer if your Honor 
wishes to look at it now. There is no breakdown as 
between political party registration on it. 

The Court: I have it right before me. Of course, 
you have no way of knowing other than by the num­
ber of votes for such and such a Republican or such 
and such a De1nocra t who are the Republicans and 
who are the Democrats and the American Labor, 
and so on; you would infer that from statistics of 
voting as to who voted for this candidate and that 
candidate-

Mr. Gladstein: No, your lionor. 
Mr. Sacher: No, your Honor. 
The Court: ( Continuing)-plus the date as to 

enrolled political affiliations. 
Mr. Gladstein: "\Vell, it would not be a plus at 

all. You would simply determine whether a man was 
a (2510) Republican Party affiliate, a registered 
Republican, by going to what are called the registry 
lists-

The Court: I say, and then you get the af­
filiated Republicans. 

Mr. Gladstein: Yes. 
The Court: Now, how would you tell who were 

the other Republicans and the other Democrats and 
so on~ Only by seeing the votes for one candidate 
or another. 

Mr. Gladstein: I don't think so. 
Mr. Wilkerson, will you address yourself to the 

Court's question as to whether the total number cast 
for a particular candidate was taken into account, 
and if so-

The Witness: Yes, but not for the purpose the 
Court mentions. 

The Court: Well, what is occurring to me is 
that conceivably there might be a lot of citizens who 
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voted for whom they chose. They might vote for 
one Republican on one line and for a Democrat on 
another line, and so on, and it would not seem clear 
to me that they were Republicans or that they were 
Democrats or that they were American Labor Party 
persons; and the whole thing as to politics, reasoning 
backwards as you seem to do, seems to me so con­
fusing and speculative as not to have (2511) proba­
tive force. 

Mr. Gladstein: Well, your Honor, w~ were not 
doing that. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Would you please do this, Mr. Wilkerson: explain to 
the Court just what the method was in connection with these 
figures the Court has mentioned~ 

Mr. McGohey: What table are we talking about1 
The Court : We are talking now about 96 and 

97 for identification. Without giving the figures you 
are to tell me the method you pursued. 

The Witness: Is 96 labeled P-3 ~ 
Mr. Gladstein: No, P-2, and 97 is labeled P-1. 
The Court: That is right. 
Mr. Gladstein: 98, which is labeled P-3, has 

been received in evidence, but that is not the sub­
ject of the Court's question. 

The Witness : So the question is the table labeled 
P-2~ 

Mr. Gladstein: Yes. 

Q. What was the method that you used there~ A . .All 
right. The Board of Elections has records available for 
the registration of all voters who enroll for this or that 
political party; and information concerning the political 
enrollment of persons chosen (2512) to serve on jury 
panels was obtained by checking their names on the official 
lists of enrolled voters by parties in the Board of Elections 
records. That takes care of column 3, for example-no, 
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wait a minute. Oh, I see. This is the one which deals with 
the vote, pardon me. The comments I just made do not 
refer to the data of this table; I was thinking of a different 
set of data. I am sorry, your Honor. 

This table-
Q. Which one, please~ A. I am talking about the one 

labeled P-2, and I don't know what exhibit number-

The Court: It is 96 for identification. 
The Witness: 96. This table indicates the per­

centage of the total Congressional vote in each Con­
gressional District cast for the Republican Party in 
one column and for the American Labor Party in 
another column. This is-

The Court: Now let me just ask this right there: 
you see the witness looks and sees that a certain 
candidate was running for Congress in such and 
such a district, and somebody votes for him and he 
is on the Republican ticket. Now how do you know 
whether it was not a Democrat who voted for him, 
and, vice versa, in some of the other cases, a Repub­
lican voted for a Democrat~ You see, you have so 
many people-perhaps it does not (2513) look that 
way to politicians; perhaps it does-but there are 
a great many people who will vote for whoever they 
think the best candidate is, and it may well be that 
a person who is a Democrat may vote for a man 
running for Congress on the Republican ticket, or 
is that crazy~ 

Mr. Crockett: Your Honor, I think a reading 
of the witness's last answer will indicate that he 
did not say what your Honor seemingly thought he 
did say. The statement that he originally made 
with regard to one exhibit he took back, saying he 
was speaking about the wrong exhibit. H·e. did not 
repeat that with reference to this-

The Court: Yes, but now he says that he did 
not get it from the registration lists of those who 
enrolled as Democrats or Republicans or American 
Labor Party people but he got it from the Board of 
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Elections statistics of who voted the Republican 
ticket or the Democratic ticket-that is, the Congres­
sional ticket. 

Mr. Gladstein: He used both of those sources 
for different tabulations, your Honor. 

The Court : Well, I say whichever one he used 
for whichever purpose, it does not seem to me that 
it proves anything. I am going to stick to my rul­
ing. 

Mr. Gladstein: Well, let me ask you this, (2514) 
your Honor : the question is not I trust-the ques­
tion in your mind is not that we are trying to prove 
that a Republican always votes for a Republican or 
a Democrat always votes for a Democrat who is 
running for office. That is beside the point. We 
are not s·eeking to create the basis for inferences to 
be drawn along that line. That is not the question, 
your Honor. The question simply is this: if it is 
an established fact that year in and year out, for 
example in the 17th Congressional District, Repub­
lican candidates are the ones who win, they are. the 
ones who receive the support of the people who live 
in that area, the people who live in that area are 
the Republican Party people in Manhattan-

The Court: Why don't you just put in evidence 
the book that has the statistics of the Board of Elec­
tions and let it go at that instead of all this 
roundabout way of doing it. 

Mr. Gladstein: Well, we will offer that too. 
The Court : So I will exclude these charts as I 

have. 
Mr. Gladstein: Now I want to ask you about 

98. I asked you a question. Do you have it in front 
of you? 

The Witness: 98 is the one labeled P-3, yes. 

Q. Now, will you state what that shows~ A. Did you 
ask me what it shows~ 
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(2515) Q. Yes. A. Exhibit 98 shows that in the Con­
gressional Districts for Manhattan and Bronx 1,386,918 
votes were cast in 1948. And in four of those Congress­
ional districts here labeled the Major Excluded Areas, the 
18th C.D., 19th C.D., 20th, 23rd and 24th-five C.D. 's, the 
vote cast was 42 per cent of the total vote cast in Congress­
ional elections in those two Boroughs. However, on the 
six jury panels here analyzed those jurors who live in 
these five major excluded areas, the 18th, 19th, 20th, 23rd 
and 24th Congressional Districts, constitute only 10.2 per 
cent of the jurors chosen for service. 

It shows also that outside of these five excluded con­
gressional districts, and by excluded we do not mean 100 
per cent excluded, but we mean those areas from which 
relatively very few jurors are chosen, that outside of those 
areas 58 per cent of the vote was cast in Congressional 
elections of 1948 but approximately .9 of the jurors came 
from those areas, specifically 89.8 per cent. 

Q. Now Mr. Wilkerson, did you make any effort to 
follow through on the facts shown by this latest Exhibit 
98 to ascertain the particular political party breakdown 
that would be found both as to population and as to jurors 
in the districts referred to in the No. 98 in (2516) evi­
dence? A. We did. We sought and did determine the 
number of persons voting, or rather, supporting the sev­
eral political parties in this '48 Congressional election. 

The Court: You don't mean to say that you 
knew for whom these jurors voted? 

The Witness: I have not said anything about 
jurors at this point, your Honor. I said we deter­
mined how many people in these Congressional dis­
tricts voted the Republican ticket, the Democratic 
ticket, the American Labor Party ticket. 

The Court : For Congressman~ 
The Witness: For Congressman. 
The Court : You are not bringing in the other 

persons that ran in particular elections, but just the 
Congressmen~ 

The Witness: These are Congressional election 
data only. 
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Mr. Sacher: May I interrupt just a moment, 
your Honor, to observe that, after all, the statute, 
Section 1864, speaks only of party affiliation and 
not for whom a person votes. Therefore, it is of no 
consequence that Republicans may vote for Demo­
crats, and vice versa. The question is, what is the 
party affiliation~ And therefore the witness's em­
phasis of (2517) party enrollment I think is the 
decisive question. 

The Court: Well, you see, there is no proof 
before me that the man who put these things in the 
box knew anything about any party affiliation. You 
want me to reason backwards about that. 

Mr. Sacher: No. All we want to do first is to 
establish that there is such a thing as party affilia­
tion, and then to ask him whether he made it. Now, 
that is not backwards. 

The Court : I guess we all know there are party 
affiliations. 

Mr. Gladstein: But we have a ~ight, your 
Honor, to show both parts of the charge in this 
case. One is the intent to create and run a system 
in a certain way, and the other is that that inten­
tion when carried out in the system brings about a 
certain product. Now we are engaged in present­
ing proof of that product. 

As a matter of fact, to recall to your Honor's 
mind what you yourself said before you became a 
Judge-it was said to the United States Supreme 
Court, and I am sure it was just as true now as it 
was then-your Honor called attention to the fact 
that it is useless to call the jury clerk or the jury 
commissioner and put a question to him such as, 
"Did you intentionally discriminate"~ Because, as 
your Honor said to the United (2518) States 
Supreme Court, ''They uniformly deny such inten­
tion to discriminate." Of course, they deny it. You 
wouldn't expect them to do anything else. There­
fore-
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The Court: Well, you know, I have said before 
the Supreme Court didn't agree with me in that 
case. 

Mr. Gladstein: They didn't say that they dis­
agreed with that. 

The Court : And I got licked. 
Mr. Gladstein: You got licked on another rea­

son. 
The Court: Now, I would infer from that that 

the argument had perhaps less force than it seemed 
to have. 

Mr. Gladstein: But I think I should try and 
persuade your Honor that the force of your agree­
ment in the Fay case is just as great today as it was 
then. And at that time it was fully accepted by the 
Supreme Court. 

The Court : I was the one who got licked. 
Mr. Gladstein: You got licked on something 

else, and I want to remind you what it was. 
The Court: Now you tell me what I ought to 

do. But I was the man who got licked, and I remem­
ber it perhaps a little more forcibly than if I was 
just a member of (2519) the general public. In 
any event, it didn't to go down with the Court very 
well because the opinion indicates quite clearly that 
they thought the contrary. 

Mr. Glad stein: No. If your Honor will recall, 
four of the nine Justices-that is just short of a 
majority, that is true, but four out of the nine; let 
us start with four-

The Court: Just a teeny weeny little bit of 
difference-four men said yes and five said no. I 
know all about that. 

Mr. Gladstein: Four of the nine Justices, and 
your Honor will recall who they were-Justices 
Black, Murphy, Rutledge and Douglas-agreed with 
your Honor's position. 

Now, Justice Jackson. who wrote for the five who 
constituted the majority did not refer to this por­
tion of your brief at all. And what he said was 
that the clerk and the commissioner testified to the 
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proposition that they did not intentionally discrim­
inate. And Justice Jackson pointed out that while 
they were interested witnesses, and he remembered 
that they were interested witnessses, nevertheless 
there was nothing in the record to dispute them. 

Now one of the things that disputes a man's 
statement on the stand is the tangible documentary 
(2520) proof of what he has done. Recently there 
was another case that came down from the Supreme 
Court in which Justice Jackson switched his view­
point on the question of how much weight you at­
tach to what happens in the composition of the 
jury. And in effect-that is the Frazier vs. United 
States, which we will have occasion-I don't know 
whether your Honor has seen it. 

The Court : You know, as soon as I get one book 
out and I find the place, you are off on another one. 

Let me see if I can find that Frazier case. I had 
that here just a while ago. 

Mr. McGahey: That is the one in the Law \Veek. 
The Court: I know. I have the slip sheet here. 
You know, I have so much material around here 

that I think I will have to be a magician. 
Well, that is amazing. 
Mr. Gladstein: Judge, can I read the passage 

from the Frazier-
The Court: No. Just wait a second and see if I 

can find it. I have the Supreme Court slip sheet. 
Mr. McGahey: I will be glad to let you have 

my copy, your Honor. 
(2521) The Court: You know, I had mine all 

marked up. 
Mr. Gladstein: That is what I thought. 
The Court: And I thought maybe it would be 

necessary to refer to something. But it has got away 
from me somewhere. 

Have you got the slip sheet there? 
Mr. McGahey: No, I haven't. 
The Court: Let me just take one more look 

around here. 
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Mr. McGohey: I just didn't want the law clerk 
to get in trouble for not bringing it down. 

The Court: Well, he won't get in trouble-! 
am pretty nice to 1ny law clerk. 

JVIr. McGohey: I think you are nice to every­
body. 

Mr. Sacher: I was just going to express the 
prayer-would he were as nice to defense counsel. 

JVIr. McGohey: Well, you see I included you, but 
you disagreed with 1ne. 

The Court : There seems to be a conspiracy up 
here. 

Mr. Gladstein: We are not members of that. 
We have been trying to do everything to give you 
enlightenment rather than keep the law and the 
majesty thereof from you, Judge. 

(2522) The Court: Well, it looks like I have 
been robbed. Well, I guess the law clerk is guilty. 

Well, there is nowhere else to look, so I guess I 
will have to take Mr. McGahey's copy. 

Now, let 1ne see what there is to be found in 
that Frazier case. 

Mr. Gladstein: Now your Honor will recall that 
what Mr. Justice Jackson was pointing out in that 
case was a number of very pertinent things here. 
In the first place, he ca1lec1 attention to the fact that 
the result of operating a system of jury selection 
is something that ought to be closely examined with­
out regard to what anybody says about original 
intention, because, he says, if that result looks 
pretty bad, well, then we ought not to tolerate it, 
especially in view of the supervisory authority which 
you have in federal courts as distinguished from 
this question of p·aying deference to the rights of 
States in matters of this kind. 

The Court: Are you referring to his dissenting 
opinion¥ 

Mr. Gladstein: Yes. But he was the justice who 
wrote the opinion against you, the one that you say 
you got licked on, in the Fay case. 

The Court : I did get licked. 
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(2523) Mr. Gladstein: Yes. 
The Court: There is no question about that. 
Mr. Gladstein: But I want to point out that 

Justice Jackson in the Frazier case calls a tten­
tion-and if Justice Jackson does, that means that 
you have four justices who were with you in the 
Fay case and now these views of Justice Jackson in 
a federal court case, as distinguished from what 
you had in the Fay case, which was a State court 
case. 

Mr. McGohey: Your Honor, may I point out 
that Justice Rutledge, who was among the four in 
the Fay case, becomes the majority in the other 
case. So that-

The Court: I think you gentlemen are getting 
in a little too deep for me, because I must not specu­
late too much about my superiors, and just how 
they may line up here or line up there. But I will 
study that. 

Now we will take a little recess until tomorrow 
morning at half past ten. 

(Adjourned to February 4, 1949, at 10.30 a.m.) 

New York, February 4, 1949; 
10.30 o'clock a.m. 

* 
(2526) Mr. Gladstein: * * *Now, yesterday as 

we were concluding, your Honor-by the way, did 
you find your copy of the Frazier decision~ 

The Court: Yes, my ~secretary had it upstairs. 
Mr. Gladstein: So you have not been robbed 

after all. It seemed curious to me that with 402 po­
licemen around the courthouse at the opening of 
this case that a thing like that would have been 
committed, your Honor. But I wanted to call your 
Honor's attention to the language of Mr. Justice 
Jackson in discussing the composition of the jury-
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The Court: Just a second. I had Mr. McGohey's 
copy that I took upstairs with me last night, and 
he wants it back, and I suppose that has been left 
upstairs. 

Mr. McGohey: That may be upstairs, your 
Honor. Don't hold it up on that account. 

The Court: Yes, I am afraid, Mr. McGohey, that 
is upstairs. 

Mr. McGohey: That is all right, your Honor. 
Let us not delay on that account. 

The Court: Show me what is the part you have 
in mind. 

Mr. Gladstein: The copy I have is the advanced 
(2527) opinion of a lawyer's edition. 

The Court : I know. Now get going from the 
beginning of his opinion which appears at page­

Mr. Gladstein: Page 184. 
The Court: But I -have the slip sheet here, and 

it is a short opinion. T.here is paragraph 1, para­
graph 2, paragraph 3, 4, 5 and so on. 

Now, which paragraph is it you are reading? 
Mr. Gladstein: Well, there are a number that I 

want to call the Court's attention to, but you recall­
The Court: Well, you are going to start with 

what paragraph? 
Mr. Gladstein: The very first. 
The Court : Very good. 
Mr. Gladstein: Now, your Honor will recall that 

in that case because of the system that they used in 
Washington, D. C. where about half of the people 
,called to serve on juries are Government employes, 
that the situation is such that it is possible and 
sometimes happens that the 12 people who sit in a 
case in which the United States is a party, a ma­
jority, or perhaps all of them may be Government 
employes. 

The Court: Yes. Now what you are trying to 
prove to me now is that the Supreme Court has held 
in substance here that the majority of them are 
likely to (2528) hold that when the jury officials 
of any district testify they probably lie. That is 
what you have been contending. 
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Mr. Gladstein: No. I :Said this, your Honor, 
that Mr. Justice Jackson pointed out that the ques­
tion of the original intent in the Frazier case was 
not decisive, and you will notice that at page 185 he 
makes this statement for example-

The Court: This is paragraph 1 of the dissent­
ing opinion of Justice Jackson. Now you have 
skipped to another paragraph 1 

Mr. Gladstein: No. I will take that first one. 
The Court: I thing you had better. 
Mr. Gladstein: H.e says: 

''On one proposition I ·should expect trial 
lawyers to be nearly unanimous: that a jury, every 
member of which is in the hire of one of the liti­
gants, lacks something of being an impartial jury. 
A system which has produced such an objection­
able result and always tends to repeat it, should, 
in my opinion, be disapproved by this Court in ex­
ercise of its supervisory power over federal 
courts.'' 

Now, I pause at this point to make this note: that 
what Mr. Justice Jackson is saying is that the re­
sult can be bad regardless of what the original in­
tent was, (2529) and that is fortified by what he 
says in that portion of the opinion at 185, page 185-

The Court: Paragraph 1 
Mr. Gladstein: The last paragraph on that page. 
The Court: But you see, the book you have­
Mr. Gladstein: I will count them, your Honor. 

Paragraph No. 6. 
The Court: Starting with the words '''This con­

dition"? 
Mr. Gladstein: That is right, your Honor. He 

says: 

''This condition makes it obvious that, if jury 
service is put on virtually a voluntary basis and 
qualified persons are allowed to decline jury serv­
ice at their own option, the panel will become 
loaded with Government employes. If this undue 
concentration of such jurors were accomplished 
by any device which excluded nongovernment 
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jurors, it unquestionably would be condemned not 
only by reason of but even without resort to the 
doctrine that prevailed in Ballard v. United States, 
Thiel v. Southern Pacific Company and Glasser 
v. United States. 

(2530) "Is the result more lawful when it is 
accomplished by letting one class exclude them­
selve-s, stimulated to do so by the incentive of such 
a dual system of compensation~'' 

Now, here, in other words, is what Mr. Justice 
Jackson was saying: he was saying that since the 
'Government employes in Washington, D. C. continue 
to get paid their regular ·salary when they serve in 
the jury box, whereas nongovernment employes, 
:such as manual workers, do not, and are therefore 
required to accept the per diem of now $4, and there­
fore feel that they might not be able to afford to 
,serve as juror.s, the clerk had been excusing such 
people, just as in the Thiel case where the clerk testi­
fied, the jury commissioner testified that he had orig­
inally called-he had called manual workers, but they 
had asked to be excused, and he had excused them. 

The Court: Yes. And he went on to say, that 
is the commissioner in the Thiel case, that as a re­
sult of his experience in prior years he had decided 
and had actually excluded them all. 

Mr. Gladstein: In that he didn't call them. That 
is right. In that he didn't call them. 

The Court: Well, he said he excluded them all. 
Mr. Gladstein: Well, not all, not 100 per cent, 

(2531) because, your Honor-
The Court: Well now, Mr. Gladstein I am not 

disposed to hear any more argument on this. I 
think I kno'v what you have been contending. And 
I can see that it gets a little complicated when you 
read from this dissenting opinion and that dis·sent­
ing opinion and claim that one of the Supreme Court 
Judges held one way back in one year and that a cer­
tain dissent that he made in another case shows 
maybe he will vote differently when another case 
comes up. 
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But I think we had better stick to our proof now 
and then we have the argument. Now we want to 
get through with the facts. 

Mr. Gladstein: I was about to read from a ma­
jority opinion and call attention to the-

The Court: That you will kindly reserve until 
later. 

Mr. Sacher: May I briefly address your Honor 
on :something that I think is of moment in regard 
to the procedure to be followed~ 

The Court: Is it something you think I do not 
already understand. 

Mr. Sacher: Well-
The Court: If it is something that you have 

some reason to believe that I do not understand 
already, (2532) I will hear you. 

Mr. Sacher: What I am addressing myself to 
at the moment is the question we had discussed yes­
terday afternoon. That was the question as to the 
matter of the sampling and the matter of utilizing 
the occupational descriptions and census data in re­
gard to people on the various panels. 

Now, I want to make reference to the majority 
opinion in the Fay case because I do believe it has 
particular pertinence to the problem we have before 
us. 

The Court: I am not going to permit you to do 
that. I can almost recite that Fay case backwards. 
I know all about it. I was in the case, as you 
gentlement have ·said again and again. I have 
read the opinions backwards and forwards and I 
know what is in there. And I am not disposed to 
hear any more argument about what is in that case 
or listen to quotations from these opinions that I 
have already read at least 20 or 30 times. 

Mr. Sacher : I do not intend to read them, your 
Honor. I wish rather to refer to certain sections. 
which I would ask your Honor to be good enough 
to read. 

The Court: Very well. 
Mr. Sacher: Because I believe that they are 

of great pertinence. In particular, I have reference 
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to (2533) that portion of Judge Jackson's opinion 
which your Honor will find in that section of the 
opinion where notes 14 and 15, the footnotes, appear 
with the tabulations. 

The Court: Yes, I have it. 
Mr. Sacher: Now what I have particular refer­

ence to is the following: in the course of that section 
of the opinion 1Ir. Justice Jackson has occasion to 
make several observations dealing with the follow­
ing: 1. That there didn't appear to be a sufficiently 
precise designation of the occupational status of the 
jurors who were on the special panel, but your 
Honor will observe that what the defense in that 
case was permitted to do was to demonstrate the oc­
cupational status to the extent that it was reflected 
on the lists of the court of each of 2700 of those who 
constituted the special panel . 

. Secondly, Mr. Justice Jackson observed that 
there hadn't been presented anything indicating that 
the composition, occupational composition that is to 
say, of the special panel was any different from the 
occupational situation or composition of the entire 
reservoir of some 60,000 jurors from among whom 
the special panel was drawn. 

Now it seems to me that that is of great moment 
to us in this case because what we are concerned 
(2534) with is to present the proof in such manner 
that we will not be subject to the criticism that we 
did not properly and adequately exhibit to the Court 
on the record the total composition of the entire 
body of jurors from among whom the various panels 
are drawn. As a matter of proof-

The Court: Now, Mr. Sacher, I may not without 
a little trouble :find the page, but I think I could if I 
chose, where you told me almost the identical thing 
in almost the same identical words, and I marked in 
the book the passage that you have now referred to 
again. Now, I have the matter in mind. And it is 
just one of those things, that if I don't agree with 
you or your colleagues you think probably you need 
to repeat it four or five times. Now I have got the 
point and I really do not want to hear any more 
argument on it. 
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Mr. Sacher: I do not wish to contravene your 
Honor's wishes in that regard. I wish only to make 
this observation-that I think that for the first time 
yesterday we .had occasion to refer to the question of 
the adequacy of the 31 panels as a proper and typical 
sampling of, 1, all the panels and, 2, the entire jury 
lists. And it does seem to me that while it may be 
quite proper for your Honor to say that ''I decline 
(2535) to indicate what is or isn't sufficient"-

The Court: Well, it i~ not my business to tell 
you-

Mr. Sacher: Precisely. 
The Court: -just what charts to get up and 

just what evidence to produce. 
Mr. Sacher: I appreciate that your professorial 

days are perhaps over, but the point I make­
The Court: Well, who can tell~ 
Mr. Sacher : You never can tell. 
The Court : I may be back teaching. This judge 

business-
Mr. Sacher: Ain't what it's cracked up to be. 
The Court : -is pretty tough. 
Mr . .Sacher: But what I would like to ·say, your 

Honor, is this. It seems to me that while we do not 
have the right to ask the Court for guidance we may 
properly ask the Court for indulgence in presenting 
to it that quantum of proof which the Court has 
made necessary, either by its declination to say 
"Enough MacDuff" or by simply saying, "I do 
not regard what is in as being adequate, there are 
gaps in your proof,'' et cetera. 

The Court: Well, I now say, ''Enough Mac-
Duff.'' 

Mr. Sacher: All right, sir; and I will ·sit down. 
(2536) The Court: That settles that point. 
Now, Mr. Gladstein, you get back on the job with 

those witnesses that you told me this morning you 
were going to call. 

Mr. Isserman: If the Court please, I would like 
to call Congressman Marcantonio to the stand. 
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VrTo 1\fARcANTONro, called as a witness on behalf of the 
defendants on the challenge, being duly sworn, testified as 
follows: 

Direct exanz,ination by Mr. Isserman: 

Q. Congressman, you are an electiv€ Congressman of 
the United States Congress, are you~ A. I am. 

Q. What district~ A. 18th Congressional District, New 
York. 

Q. Are you absenting yourself this morning from your 
Congressional duties~ A. I am not. The House is not 
in session. 

Mr. Isserman: May we hav.e a moment or two 
while certain exhibits are being brought in 1 

The Court: Certainly. What is the first one that 
you are going- to use 1 Let us have the date of the 
panel. 

Mr. Isserman: February 1st, 1949. 
(2537) The Court: Oh, the '49 one. Now just 

a second. That is Exhibit 66. 
· Now I think if the clerk would move that, or 

somebody move it over so it is not right behind 
the witness-just move it over there so I can look 
at it. That is it. 

Mr. Gladstein: Does your Honor have the 
magnifying glass that we pres€nted 1 

The Court: I have. 
Mr. Gladstein: We don't want to take it away 

from you but just temporarily borrow it. 
The Court: Well, it is for the use of all. 
Mr. Isserman: Why don't we leave it here T 

I may have occasion to use it. 
The Court: All right. 
Mr. Isserman: I am still waiting for the panel 

to which I had reference. It is being brought out. 
The Court: Now you can't get any more of 

them on there (indicating blackboard). 
Mr. Isserman: No, I am not trying to. I am 

simply trying to rearrange them so that the one I am 
talking about will he in a position to see it. 
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Mr. McGahey: If the Court please-I beg your 
pardon-before the questioning starts, last week, or 
the early part of this week, rather, we had prepared 
photographs of various challenge exhibits including 
Defendants' Challenge Exhibit (2538) 69, which 
I see is now on the board. I have had a second 
photograph taken in a manner which shows up the 
red pins on there. 65 I am talking about. 

And I should like to offer this to your Honor, and 
I have a copy for the defendants. Because I think 
in looking at it it makes it easier to understand the 
exhibit. 

The Court: Yes. 
Mr. McGahey: The first picture showed all of 

the pins in the same color. 
The Court: As I remember Exhibit 65 it is in­

tended to represent the two drawings of January 
17th. Is that right, Mr. Gladstein~ 

Mr. Gladstein: Yes, sir. 
The Court: That is, the difference in the color 

of the pins. 
Mr. Gladstein: That is correct, your Honor. 
The Court: Thank you, Mr. McGohey. 
Mr. Gladstein: May it be said for the record 

that the red pins appear to show up not as empty 
spots and are not to be taken to mean empty spots, 
but they look like bubble gum, blown up a little 
bit. 

Mr. McGahey: Well, they are a different shade 
than the· others. 

The Court: Don't mention that bubble gum. 
(2539) If my grandchildren are found with any 
more of that bubble gum I am likely to take some 
proceeding against them. And I don't think these 
look like bubble gum either. They look like pins 
to me, and they are very clear. 

Mr. Gladstein: They look like a bunch of grapes. 

·Q. Now, Congressman, I call your attention to Exhibit 
No. 66, D·e.fendants' Challenge Exhibit No. 66, which is en­
titled "Residence of Jurors-Panel of 2-1-49, Federal Petit 
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Jury, Southern District of New York'' and call your at­
tention to an area bounded by the East River and marked 
with black boundary lines with an "18" in the center, and 
ask you if that is the Congressional District which you 
represent~ A. It is. 

Q. How long have you represented that district~ A. 
Well, to be specific, I have been representing that district, 
the northern part of that district, from 1934 to date, and 
the full district from 1944 to date. I am serving my seventh 
term. That district was reapportioned in 1944. 

Q. Before it was reapportioned did the northern part 
of the district which you represented then bear the name 
of the 18th~ ( 2540) A. No. It used to be the 20th Con­
gressional District. From 99th Street up to 127th Street 
used to be the 20th Congressional District, and then it 
was extended down to 59th Street. And it is now known, 
since 1944, as the 18th Congressional District. 

Q. Do you r,eside in the district~ A. I do. I live at 
231 East 116th Street. 

Q. How long have you resided in the district 1 A. It 
was there I was born. 

Q. Prior to your election as Congressman, that is your 
first term, were you engaged in political activity in your 
district 1 A. I was. Since 1922. 

Q. And what did that political activity consist of~ A. 
I managed several Congressional campaigns for my 
predecessor, Fiorello LaGuardia. 

Q. Did you in the period prior to your becoming a Con­
gressman for that district engage in various community 
activities in the district? A. I did. I was engaged in set­
tlement work and in tenants work. 

Q. What occupation did you have before you became a 
Congressman? A. I have been an attorney. 

Q. And did you practice as an attorney with many of 
the residents of that district? A. I did. 

Q. After becoming a Congressman did you in addition 
(2541) to the political activity in that district engage in 
various community activities 1 A. I have. 

Q. Have they occupied a substantial portion of your 
time? A. Definitely. 

Q. Would you give us some idea as to the nature of 
these activities? A. Well, I have organized committees 
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for obtaining of a high school, housing projects, and various 
educational activities for the adults. 

Q. Have you in the course of your legislative experience 
been concerned with the problem of housing in your dis­
trict~ A. I have. 

Q. And how did that concern manifest itself? 

Mr. McGohey: I object to this line of question-
ing-

The Court: Sustained. 
Mr. McGohey: -as irrelevant. 
Mr. Isserman: Will your Honor hear me on 

it~ 
The Court: No. 
Mr. Isserman: I would like to offer to prove that 

if this witness would be allowed to answer he would 
answer that he was concerned with a study of hous­
ing-

The Court: Now, Mr. Isserman, instead of fol­
lowing the customary procedure, where an attorney 
asks a question the relevancy of which appears on 
its face or the irrelevancy appears on its face, the 
Court rules and there is an end to it-in this trial 
counsel, that (2542) is to say you and your col­
leagues, have developed this new business of pro­
ceeding to then make an offer of proof in which you 
state on the record the answer that you expect to 
get. And I am not going to permit that. This is 
just a preliminary question of little significance. 

Mr. Isserman: Well, it is-
The Court: And I have ruled against it. I will 

hear no argument. I will hear no offer of proof as 
to this question. 

Mr. Isserman: Will your Honor hear the cases 
bearing on offers of proof which indicate that this 
is appropriate under the circumstances 1 

The Court: No. I think I am pretty familiar 
with the elementary principles having to do with 
such matters. You are just qualifying the witness 
n_ow fo~ sol?ething, and I do not regard that par­
ticular Inquiry as of any moment. So you go right 
ahead with the next question. 
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Q. Are you familiar, Congressman, with housing condi-
tions in your district~ A. I am. · 

Q. Are you familiar with the type of buildings in your 
district? A. I am. 

Q. Upon what is that familiarity based~ 

Mr. McGahey: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 
(2543) Mr. Isserman: If your Honor please, I 

am constrained again to make an offer of proof, 
unless your Honor rules that I may not. 

The Court : Well, you had better go ahead and 
get down to what proof you want from him and if 
somebody claims he is not qualifi€d then it will be 
time for us to go into that. 

Mr. Isserman: All right. 

Q. Will you tell us, Congressman, from the stand­
point of the type of houses in your district, what its com­
position is~ .A. With the exception of about 30 to 40, at 
most, elevator apartments, the district is in the main about 
90 per cent tenements, with the exception of a few renovated 
brownstone houses. .And there are two housing projectst 
low cost housing projects in the district; the East River 
houses, located at 102nd to 105th, and from First Avenue 
over to the river, and the James Welden Johnson low cost 
housing project located at 112th Street to 115th Street, 
from the east side of Park .A venue to the west side of Third 
Avenue. 

(2544) Q. Now can you tell us how long these houses 
and projects have been in existence~ 

Mr. McGohey: Objection, your Honor. 
The Court: I don't quite get the point of that. 

I£ there is some point to it I might allow the ques­
tion. 

Mr. Isserman: The point is, we want to show 
the existence of these houses during the period when 
jurors were drawn and the composition of the per­
sons in those houses. 

The Court: And I suppose that, in turn, will 
lead to our dragging through all the different 
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changes in construction in the district from 1940 
to date. 

I think I will sustain the objection. 
Mr. Isserman: Will your Honor hear me on 

it~ 
The Court: No. 
Mr. Iss-erman: Well, I would like to object to 

your Honor's characterization of the testimony by 
the use of your Honor of the expression ''dragging 
through.'' We are trying to present evidence here, 
and I would like to argue my right to ask this 
question and to put on record what I intend to prove 
by it. 

The Court: Yes, that is what I ruled you may 
not do. 

Mr. Sacher: Your Honor, it seems to me that 
(2545) the interrogation as to the witness's quali­
fi:ca tion is necessary not only to qualify him but to 
establish the weight that is to be attached to his 
testimony, and it s,eems to me that Mr. Isserman 's 
inquiries are directed not only to qualifying the wit­
ness but to show an extent of familiarity which will 
give the weight which ought to be attached to that 
testimony. 

Mr. Isserman: And I might say, your Honor, 
much more than that, we intend to show that these 
two particular housing projects here-

The Court : Mr. Isserman, you. may not recall 
but I have ruled that you may not state anything 
further as to this line of proof. You will proceed. 
You have your exception, and you may go on to 
som,e other subject. 

Mr. Isserman: Do I understand that I may not 
ask one question about the housing projects to which 
the witness has referred 1 

The Court: That is right. 
Mr. Isserman: And that your Honor will hear 

no other proof in respect to that~ 
The Court: Well, I may later on after we have 

more evidence. That is something I will decide 
then. 
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Mr. Isserman: I will make an offer of proof, 
then, if the Court please, as to these two housing 
(2546) projects to the effect that if the witness 
were allowed to answer this question and the fol­
lowing questions which would be put concerning 
these houses, that these houses contained approxi­
mately-

The Court: Mr. Isserman, you are doing just 
what I told you not to do. Now that has happened 
so persistently here in this trial that it has made a 
very definite impression on me. You may remem­
ber that some time ago I had occasion to remark 
that I felt that there had come into my mind for 
the first time a thought that a wilful, persistent 
and deliberate attempt was being made for delay. 
I can find no other explanation for the way counsel 
have been conducting themselves in dragging this 
matter out; and in paying no attention to my rul­
ings, no matter how trivial and inconsequential the 
particular rna tter may be. Now I hope you will 
bear in mind that matter because I may be literally 
forced to take some sort of action here merely to 
protect the administration of justice from frustra­
tion. And so I hope you will now proceed to some 
other subject. 

Mr. Isserman: I object to your Honor's char­
acterization of the conduct of counsel; to the state­
ment that this is an effort to drag this matter out; 
to the statement that this is a persistent effort at 
delay, and state for the record that it is a persistent 
(2547) effort to put the facts in evidence and to 
protect the rights of my clients to the point at which 
I am certain that the Court has ruled that I may 
not proceed further. It was not clear from the 
Court's rulings, particularly the Court's statement 
that the Court would come to an offer of proof later, 
when I asked if the Court was precluding offer of 
proof, and the Court did not state that it was, that 
I continued to make it. I am now convinced that 
this Court will not allow me to make an offer of 
proof on this subject, and I will therefore. desist. 
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Mr. Gladstein: Your Honor, may I say some­
thing about offers to prove? 

The Court: You may not. 
Mr. Gladstein: But, your Honor, I would like 

to suggest some cases to your Honor that you ought 
to look at-

The Court: Well, I have had that suggestion 
addressed to me a little while ago and I have rejected 
it. Now I think perhaps you gentlemen would do 
well to let the matter rest as it is now and proceed 
with the interrogation of the witness so that we may 
get som·e testimony relevant to the issue that is be­
fore me. 

Mr. Gladstein: If the Court please, there are 
cases and cases which show that unless counsel makes 
( 2548) an offer of proof -and the offer is not re­
quired to be in writing-

The Court: ~{r. Gladstein, did you understand 
that I indicated that I did not desire to hear any 
further argument on the point? 

Mr. Gladstein: All right. I understand, your 
Honor, except that I wanted to call your Honor's 
attention to a specific authority. 

The Court: Yes, and that is what Mr. Sacher 
wanted to do just a little while ago. 

Mr. Gladstein: This was on another matter 
entirely. We are now talking about offers to prove. 

The Court: I am not disposed to hear any a rgu­
ment or hear any suggestions at this time, and I 
direct that Mr. Isserman proceed to interrogate the 
witness on some subject other than this low cost 
housing to which he has been addressing certain 
questions. 

Mr. Gladstein: JYiy only suggestion then, is this: 
since your Honor won't permit me to refer to the 
authorities, then I refer to a practical suggestion, 
and that is if instead of consuming time in arguing 
as to whether or not we have the right to make the 
simple statement for the record as to what the wit­
ness would say if he were permitted to answer the 
question to which (2549) the United States At­
torney has objected, and which objection has been 
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sustained-if instead of doing that we were simply 
allowed to follow the normal, usual routine pro­
cedure that takes place ·even before juries. Many 
a time a question is asked-

The Court: You see, Mr. Gladstein, I am the 
one who has to decide, about procedure here; and 
I hear from time to time from you and your col­
leagues how wrong I am and how little I know of 
procedure, and perhaps you are right; but the com­
mon method is for counsel to state his position, the 
Court rules, and then go on. If there is error then 
it may be corrected. 

Mr. Gladstein: Yes-
The Court : So you will please desist from fur­

ther argument. 
Mr. Sacher: Does your Honor-
The Court: Now Mr. Sacher, I do not desire to 

hear you now, so-
Mr. Sacher: No, I am not going­
The Court : -so please-
Mr. Sacher: But you have characterized my .con­

duct as well as that of trial couns·el, and I wish to 
deny it on the record, and I wish to say that your 
Honor is aware of the fact that there are 40 or 50 
newspapers here, and on the threshold of Congress­
man (2550) Marcantonio's testimony you have 
taken occasion to say that his testimony is being 
introduced for the purpose of dragging and delaying 
the trial ; and I say-

The Court: Did I say that~ 
Mr. Sacher: Well, you imply that very broadly. 

If your Honor wishes to deny it I shall be glad to 
have the denial. But I got the impression very 
distinctly that your Honor's observation was made 
just on the threshold of the Congressman's -testi­
mony and that it was designed to color the effect 
and impression to be given to it, and I do not believe, 
your Honor, that that is appropriate. 

The Court : If you are only trying to provoke 
me, Mr. Sacher, you are wasting your time. 

Mr. Sacher: I am not. I am provoked because 
you characterized our conduct ahd I am simply rising 
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to reply to it. I did not characterize your Honor's 
conduct. You have characterized ours. 

The Court: That is what the Court is supposed 
to do-

Mr. Sacher: I don't think so. 
The Court: -when there is occasion for it. 

Now, you vigorously deny it. No counsel who I have 
ever known to misbehave himself says that he admits 
that he is misbehaving. Naturally, the more yotr 
have in stalling (2551) and delaying tactics the 
more vigorously the man proceeds to deny it and 
uses up more time. I don't expect anybody who 
does something of that character to admit it, but 
I think mine is the function of making the decision. 

Mr. Sacher : Vv ell, ours is not the function to 
stand here and be a·ccused by your Honor. I submit 
that that is not according us a fair trial when 
throughout these proceedings you persist in char­
acterizing testimony whose materiality and rel­
evancy you have not yet ascertained-you proceed 
to characteriz·e it on its threshold as constituting 
stalling and delaying; and I submit, your Honor, 
that the proprieties would require that the. Court 
exercise the same restraint that counsel is asked 
to exercise. 

The Court: Well, you s·ee, you and your col­
leagues have apparently adopted a ne"\v technique 
in criminal cases by which instead of the defendants 
who are indicted being tried, the Court and a11 the 
members of the court are the ones who must suffer 
the excoriations and accusations of counsel. But I 
think, perhaps, with patience there will be an end. 
So you will please let the matter drop there, and 
Mr. Isserman will proceed with his questions. 

Mr. Isserman : I will proceed, your Honor, 
(2552) but I am again constrained on behalf of 
my clients to object to your Honor's remark char­
acterizing the questioning which I am indulging in, 
or suggesting that the questioning is a stalling and 
delaying tactics, and to the description of this chal­
lenge to a jury, which under the law we have a 
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right to make on behalf of our clients, as a new 
technique-

The Court: You have been at it three weeks 
now. I think possibly if you go on arguing this way 
we will be here the rest of the year on this chal­
lenge. But I think I shall take some steps to pre­
vent that. 

Mr. Isserman: I would like to complete my ob­
jection to the characterization of the jury challenge 
as a new technique, and your Honor's last statement 
that your Honor will take steps to prev€nt what is 
merely our effort to put in evidence the facts, and 
the fact that it takes three weeks or ten, your Honor, 
makes no difference in the administration of jus­
tice. 

The Court: \Vell, perhaps we had better let 
each one of the ,counsel for the defendants say a 
word or two now, because they look as though they 
desire to state their positions too. 

Mr. McCabe, would you like to say something? 
Mr. ~IcCabe: I had not intended to say any­

thing, your Honor, but as long as your Honor invites 
it I ( 2553) would like to express a thought that 
has been going through my mind for several days: 
your Honor will re-call that your Honor criticized 
me several times and criticized fellow counsel for 
referring to the jury system in the Southern District 
of New York in terms containing many adjectives, 
such as corrupt, illegal and unfair. 

The Court: Did I criticize you for that t 
Mr. McCabe: I think you did, and I think your 

Honor said ''You will please observe that merely 
by your calling it corrupt or illegal or unfair that 
does not make it so.'' 

The Court: Yes, and I heard so much repetition 
of that that I got the impression that it was being 
made for consumption out of the court instead of 
in the court, and that perhaps some of you thought 
that this idea of repeating accusations of that char­
acter, however extravagant, might have some effect 
elsewhere; but I do not remember criticising you 
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for making the charge that you have made here. 
You have a right to do that, and that is what we are 
trying out. 

J\tfr. McCabe: You see, your Honor, since that 
was so far from our minds I wondered how that 
came to your Honor's mind, and now it has become­

The Court: It might be prejudice, I suppose¥ 
(2554) Mr. McCabe: No, it has become clear 

to me that your Honor is doing the very same thing. 
Your Honor by constar;ttly referring to our tactics 
as delaying tactics; by referring to evidence which 
seems to me to be very clear and precise, as being 
confusing, and referring to gaps in the testimony­
! think that your Honor seems to have in his mind 
doing the very thing which you, I think unjustly, 
indicated that we might be doing. It seems to me 
that your Honor's words, that constant repetition 
of our new techniques and delaying tactics, and 
dragging things out and rambling on, that that is 
addressed-

The Court: Well, maybe I do ramble a little 
now and then, but I think that may be the privilege 
of the Court. 

Mr. McCabe: Yes, but I say that it seems to 
me that that is what is in your Honor's mind, and 
that also ma.y very well be addressed to someone 
outside of this courtroom, and I think that the 
record, if reviewed by some other authority may 
indicate unusual degree of tolerance in the face of 
particularly annoying tactics, which I don't think 
we are guilty of. 

The Court: Well, I guess you can go on, Mr. 
Isserman. 

(2555) By Mr. Isserman: 

Q. Now, Congressman Marcantonio, you mentioned the 
existence of tenement houses in the district which you 
represent. Will you tell us what you mean by that term? 
A. A tenement is a walk-up mutual dwelling; in most cases 
electricity has been installed long after it has been con­
structed; new plumbing facilities have been put in; rents 
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range around $32 to $35 for an average five-room tenement 
apartment-

The Court: $32 to $35 for an apartment 7 
The Witness : $32 to $35 for a five-room apart­

ment. 
The Court: For a five-room apartmentt 
The Witness: Yes, that is right. 

·Q. From your own experience and knowledge do you 
know the age of these tenement houses to which you refer 1 
A. I should say that most of those tenements were up 
when I was a little boy, and very few have been built­
definitely very, very few have been built .since the war; 
in fact, I can say that no tenements have been built since 
the war; and prior to the war we have had no tenements 
built. I can safely say that these tenements have been 
in existence since the early 1900s, 1910, and many prior 
thereto. Some of these tenements go all the way back to 
the latter part of the last century. 

(2556) Q. Now do you know approximately the num­
ber of people in your district 1 A. The Census of 1940 
showed that there were 297,000 people residing in my 
district. 

Q. Have you, in the course of your work, had occasion 
to consider the changes in population since that timet 
A. Judging by the voting population I assume that there 
has been a slight increase in population since 1940. 

Q. From your own experience can you tell us approxi­
mately what percentage of the people in your district live 
in the type of tenement house that you have describedf 
A. Well, over 90 per cent. 

The Court : Yes, he testified that ov.er 90 per · 
cent were in tenements with the exception of a few 
renovated brownstone fronts, and that there were 
about 30 to 40 elevator apartments ; is that right f 

The Witness : That is correct. 

Q. Now, do you know the number of registered voters 
in the last election~ I mean persons who registered to 
vote in your district? A. Yes. 104,000. 
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Q. And about how many voted~ A. About 100,000. 

The Court: What was that last~ 100,000 voted? 
The Witness: Yes. 
The Court: 104,000 registered and 100,000 voted 1 
The Witness: Yes. 

(2557) Q. Now, have you had occasion to .examine 
from time to time in the course of your work in the district, 
to examine the elevator apartments which you had refer­
ence to? A. I have. 

Q. And are you able to tell us the character of those 
buildings~ 

Mr. MeGohey: I object, your Honor. I do not 
see the relevance of that. 

The Court: Well, I think I will take it. 

A. Yes, they are 16, 14-story elevator apartments; door­
man, canopy, terraces, penthouses-

The Court: Well, I thought you were going to 
tell us about the rents. 

The Witness: The rents-yes, I will go into 
that too. In certain sections, for instance in the 
Gracie Square section-

Mr. ~1cGohey: I beg your pardon. Just a minute. 
If the witness is going to read from a paper, may I 
ask to have it marked for identification~ 

The Court: Yes. 

Q. Are you reading from notes in your own hand­
writing? A. No, I am not. My stenographer made them 
in my office. I dictated it to her. 

Q. And you are using these to refresh your recollection t 
A. Correct. 

(2558) Mr. Isserman: Wbat number would that 
be? 

The Clerk: 99. 

(Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 99 for 
identification.) 
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Q. Would you proceed, please 1 A. The apartment 
houses which I have described which are located in the 
Gracie Square section, the rents there average around $40 
a room and up; and the apartments there are quite large. 

Q. You mean in the number of rooms~ A. In the num­
ber of rooms. They have more than one bathroom facility, 
servant quarters, and so forth. In the 86th Street section 
in the 500 block they have a slightly smaller rental; that is, 
from about $32 to $45 per room. 

The Court : Per room 1 
The Witness: Per room. 

A. (Continuing) There again the apartments are large. 
Servants' quarters. 

Then you have isolated buildings here and there. 
In other words, you have a situation where you have 
tenements in one square block and then jutting out in 
that portion of that block will be one of these elevator 
apartments houses, 14, 15, 16-room apartment houses. 

Mr. McGohey: Do you mean 16-story apart­
ment (2559) houses 1 

The Witness : Story, that is right. 

Q. When you referred to the Gracie Square section, 
can you tell us just what you mean by that1 A. The Gracie 
Square section is right near Carl Schurz Park. 

· Q. And is that a section where there is an aggregation 
of these buildings~ A. Definitely. 

Q. Now, is there any ;gtreet in your district above which 
this type of elevator apartment is not present 1 A. Yes. 
I should say that north of 99th Street there are no such 
apartments. There is one at 1274 Fifth Avenue, they have 
an elevator there, but the rentals are not high. That is an 
all-Negro apartment house. Then there are two apartment 
houses, 1200, 1212, 1214-1200, 1210, 1212 Fifth Avenue all 
can be characterized as swanky elevator apartments. Out­
side of that I know of none other. 

Q. Now, can you give us the approximate ~street loca­
tion of the so-called swanky apartments you just made 
reference to~ A. That is 100, 101 and Fifth Avenue. 
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Q. And that Negro apartment house, is that on Fifth 
Avenue too~ A. That is on 109th Street and Fifth Avenue. 

Q. Now, have you finished your de.scription of the 
(2560) rentals of these apartments~ A. Well, they are 
scattered. In other words, what I have given you, the 
rentals of these apartments where they are clustered in 
one particular section. There are some, as I stated before, 
that are scattered. For instance, there are two facing the 
Julia Richman High School at 68th Street off Second Ave­
nue. That is quite expensive. 

Mr. McGohey: How much, may we find out1 
The Witness: Well, about $35 a room. 
The Court: Well, I think you have sufficiently 

described the character of the district. 

By Mr. Isserman: 

Q. Now, did you have occasion at the request of counsel 
in this case to examine the place of residence of persons 
called to serve for jury :service in this district on the panel 
of February 1st, 1949, which was represented on these 
maps as Challenge Exhibit 66~ 
A. I have. 

The Court : Just a second. 
Will you read that. 

Q. (Read.) 

The Court: We will take our usual ten-minute 
recess. 

(Short recess.) 

(25~61) By Mr. Isserman: 

Q. Now I call your attention to a grouping of pins on 
Challenge Exhibit 66 in the lower leftband corner of your 
district, there is a grouping of five pins in the area of 
66th and 67th Streets. Did you examine the places of resi­
dence of the jurors represented by those pins? A. To bH 
more accurate, that should be 68th Street. 
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The Court : The top one is 68th~ 
The Witness : The lower one is 68th. 
The Court : The lower one is 68th' All right. 
The Witness: That is 68th Street, the 300 block. 

Q. What is the name of the juror listed on that panel t 
A. John Stuart Kellogg is one; Archibald-

Q. Well, let us take one at a time. I think that will be 
easier. 

Mr. McGohey: May I interrupt for just a mo­
ment~ Do I understand, your Honor, that the Con­
gressman is now testifying with respect to the resi­
dence location of particular jurors on the panel 
for February 1, 1949, as shown on Exhibit 661 

The Court: That is exactly what I understand 
he is doing. 

Mr. McGohey: May I then ask for the list, the 
(2562) panel list which was, I think, marked for 
identi:fication-

Mr. Isserman: I think it is in evidence. 
Mr. McGohey: -and from which that map was 

made. 
The Court : Yes. We can paus8 for a moment 

until that is located and you have it before you. 
Is someone getting it~ 
Mr. Sacher: We have to .send to the office to get 

it. It will take us a few minutes. Shall we proceedT 
Mr. Isserman: May w·e continue with the ques­

tioning subject to any check of the appearance of his 
name on the list~ 

The Court: Let us see what Mr. McGohey says. 
Is that satisfactory to you, Mr. McGohey1 

Mr. McGohey: If that list is in evidence, your 
Honor, I think I ought to have it for the purpa:se of 
checking as the witness reads to make sure that the 
testimony relates to a name actually on the list. 

The Court: Yes. I think exhibits should be 
here every day. I do not think it is right to take some 
of the exhibits or leave them home or at the office. I 
think we should have all the original exhibits here 
.every day. 
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1Ir. Isserman : I think, your Honor, that was a 
matter of inadvertence in this case. I think the 
others ( 2563) are here. 

The Court: I don't doubt that. 
Mr. Sacher: Mr. 1\1cGohey, I think there may be 

one available in the clerk's office. 
The Court: Well, what do you say, Mr. McGohey~ 

Are you willing to go ahead~ 
Mr. McGohey : Well, I would like to wait then. 

If the exhibit that was put in is not here I would like 
to send to the jury clerk's office and get a copy of that 
panel. 

The Court: Yes, do that. 
Now, are you going on to a number of others~ 

Mr. Isserman in the same way? 
Mr. Is.serman: Yes. I could go to another if 

another list is here. 
The Court: You s-ee, none of them are here, 

.and I thought instead of having Mr. McGohey send 
for one and then wait ten or fifteen minutes while 
he waits for another one, that you might tell him the 
ones you are coming to and we can get them all to­
gether. 

Mr. Isserman: There are three here I want to 
inquire about: February 1, 1949; January 17, 1949, 
which is two drawings, and December 7, 1948. 

Mr. McGohey: Your Honor, before we go any 
(2564) further this thought occurs to me. I don't 
know myself whether or not the list of jurors for the 
panel of F.ebruary 1, 1949 was ever introduced in 
evidence by the defense. 

The Court: Well, I know, I have it right before 
me, and the're is only one of them that is actually 
in evidence and that is Exhibit 26. All the others 
have merely been marked for identification. But I 
am going to permit the Congressman to describe the 
character of the dwelling of the jurors who, accord­
ing to the record, are stated to live at certain places-

Mr. McGohey: Oh, I don't object to that. 
The Court: -and get a reasonable amount of 

that. Whether I am going to let him go ahead and 

LoneDissent.org



1099 

Colloquy of 0 ourt and Counsel 

do that indefinitely, I don't sa:y, but I think it is 
perfectly proper to have a certain amount of that. 
And as to the accuracy of the record and whether he 
really lives there or not, why, that is something 
·different, but I thil1k you may proceed upon the 
assumption that if the list states a juror and gives 
that addres.s, tha.t that is correct. Now, if you will 
send for those three we will just wait a moment or 
two until they come down and then we can go on. 

(2565) Mr. Isserman: There are two for Janu­
ary 17th. 

The Court: Yes. The three that you are going 
to start with are this February lst, 1949 and the 
two drawings for January 17, 1949. 

While we are waiting, Mr. Sacher, I wonder if 
you could get me that exhibit that contains the 
voting statistics. 

Mr. Sacher: 96-7. 
The Court: Here it is, 19 for identification. 

That is the one I suggested yesterday that you might 
place in evidence to get the basis for your statistics 
for that. I would like to glance at it. Is that here~ 
It is the annual report of the Board of Elections of 
the City of New York, 1946. 

Mr. Sacher: I will get it for you in a moment 
your Honor. 

Mr. Gladstein (Handing to Court): 1946 figures. 
Mr. McGahey: If the Court please, I now have 

the original record from the clerk's office. 
The Court: All right. 
Mr. McGahey: In that connection there has been 

testimony with respect to the manner in which De­
fendants' Challenge Exhibit 66 has been prepared, 
the testimony by l\1r. Wilkerson I believe. And I 
ask that counsel for the defendants be directed to 
bring in the list which their (2566) witness used 
in preparing Challenge Exhibit 66 so tha.t it may be 
marked for identification, because my examination 
of the list of exhibits discloses that no copy of the 
panel for February 1, 19·49, has been marked for 
iden ti:ficati on. 
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lvfr. Gladstein: We will be glad to do that. 
Mr. Sacher : It is being brought over, Mr. 

McGohey. 
The Court: Yes, I so direct. And counsel have 

stated that they will do ·that. 
Mr. Isserman: Also, as soon a.s they get here, 

we will offer all of them in evidence. 
The Court (To witness): Now you are starting 

with Mr. Kellogg whose address was 333 Ea.st 68th 
Street. And the witness will describe the character 
of that dwelling. 

The Witness: 333 East 68th Street is located 
in the 40th Election District of the 8th Assembly 
District. It is a 15-story, elevator, apartment house, 
canopy. And I think I have testified as to the rental. 
If not, the rentals average about $35 and up per 
room. 

The Court: What was the occupation of Kellogg¥ 
The Witness: Well, I would have to refer to the 

list. 
Mr. Isserman: You may refer to the list. 
( 2567) The Court : Yes. 
The Witness : I am not testifying as to my own 

knowledge. 
The Court: I know. I realize that. You are 

just taking what appear.s on the record as to that. 
The Witness: Exactly, sir, as it has been given 

to me by defense counsel. 
The Court : I understand. 
Mr. ~1cGohey: Your Honor, may we then have 

marked for identification the papers from which the 
witness is refreshing his recollection 1 

Mr. Isserman: We have no objection to that, if 
there is any purpose to be served by it. 

The witne.ss is referring to four typewritten 
sheets. 

The Witness : And these -cards, notes that I 
made on them. 

Mr. McGahey: And those are your own~ 
The Witness: These are my own. 
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Mr. Isserman: These four typewritten sheets 
I would like to have marked for identification per­
haps as one exhibit, A, B, C and D. 

The Witness: Except that my <Secretary wrote 
out the names on the back of the cards. 

Mr. Isserman: Which purport to be lists of 
(2568) jurors taken from the panels about which 
the Congressman will be initially questioned. 

(Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 100-A, 
B, C and D for identification.) 

Mr. Gladstein: I have now a copy of the Febru­
ary 1, 1949 panel obtained from the clerk's office. 
And it may be marked and put in evidence now. 

The Court: Just wait until the clerk finishes 
what he is doing. And I think it is a good idea to 
have that marked for identification right now and 
make the list complete. 

Mr. Isserman: 11ay this be marked for identifica­
tion 1 It is the petit jury list February 1, 1949, 
Southern District of New York, as obtained from the 
clerk's office. 

Mr. Gladstein: Either that or a copy made 
from it. 

Mr. McGohey: No objection, your Honor. 
The Clerk: Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 101. 

In evidence 1 
Mr. Isserman: I would like to offer it in evi­

dence, your Honor. I may as well do it now. 
Mr. McGohey: The witness who prepared Ex­

hibit 66 is not here to state whether this is the list 
which he used in preparing 66. I should think there 
ought to be (2569) some statement or representa­
tion by counsel with respect to that fact. 

Mr. Isserman: ~ir. Gladstein, would you make 
that statement1 

Mr. Gladstein: Yes. That is right, your Honor. 
The Court: When Mr. Wilkerson returns you 

will have him vouch for the accuracy of that exhibit, 
I take it. 

Mr. Gladstein: Very well. 
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The Court: Or in ,some other fashion. It is your 
statement to the Court that that is prepared ac­
curately and is a correct copy of the original list 1 

Mr. Gladstein: Yes. 
Mr. McGohey: And that it is the list which was 

used in preparing Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 
66. 

Mr. Gladstein: Well, all of the maps, all of the 
exhibits which are maps were prepared for the 
purpose of showing on them pins corresponding to 
the residence locations of jurors, whose addresses 
and names appear on the panels, the dates of which 
correspond to the maps. 

The Court: Yes. You see, all that Mr. McGohey 
is concerned with at the moment is to get a state­
ment that Mr. Wilkerson will testify that when he 
got up Exhibit 66 this was the list, namely the one 
just marked for identification-what was it~ 101 
for identification-that he used in preparing the 
chart. 

(2570) Mr. Gladstein: That is my understand­
ing, and I will have him testify. 

The Court : Very well. 

(Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 101 for 
identification.) 

:h1r. Isserman: If the Court please, because of 
Mr. Gladstein's greater familiarity I would like to 
have him offer the balance of the lists which have 
been marked for identification. There is no reason 
why they should not be in evidence. I think it would 
facilitate matters. 

The Court: Very well. I see no objection to 
doing that. 

Mr. McGohey: There is none, your Honor. 
The Court: You may offer them all in a batch 

and the clerk will mark them all together. Just 
strike off the identification mark. 

Mr. Gladstein : Yes, I don't think he has them 
all, so I will have them brought here. 
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By Mr. Issennan: 

Q. Now we were talking about John Stuart Kellogg. 
I think you had given his address and building. .And would 
you tell us now what his occupational classification is as 
indicated on the list furnished to you by counsel~ .A. As 
indicated on a list furnished to me, publishing (2571) 
manager, Prentice-Hall, Inc., 70 Fifth Avenue. 

Mr. Isserman: I would like to state for the 
record, if you please, that in giving this list to Mr. 
l\1arcantonio we used the classifications as we found 
them on the jury lists which are or will be in evi­
dence. 

The Court : Yes. While we were waiting Mr. 
Marcantonio has handed me these little cards and I 
have noted them in my notes, and it would be a 
convenience to me if you would take the 12 that he 
has reference to in the order that I have got them in 
my notes, unless you have some other reason. 

Mr. Isserman: No. I was going to do it by 
groupings. But I think it makes no substantial 
difference. 

·Q. So, would you take them in that order~ 

The Court : Yes. I will just say what the next 
one is and he can go along. The next one is John 
Forster who lives at 520 East 118th Street. Then, 
if you will give the character of the building and the 
man's occupation we will go on from one to another. 

The Witness : 520 East 118th Street is in the 
upper section of the district. It is the 22nd Election 
District of the 16th Assembly District. It is an old 
tenement. 1-Iis occupation according to this list 
furnished me is that of toolmaker, Westinghouse 
Electric Company, (2572) Bloomfield, New Jersey. 

The Court : The next one is 1\1rs. Adele Halpern, 
152 East 94th Street. 

The Witne.ss: Mrs. Adele Halpern, housewife. 
It is a modern dwelling, 12-story apartment house, 
elevator, at 152 East 94th Street. 

The Court : The next one is Jacques Albert. 
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Q. Have you any information on the rental there, 
Congressman? A. I do not. But it is definitely a modern 
apartment house, 12-story, elevator apartment house. 

Q. And one in the group of about 30 that you men-
tioned, is that right? A. That is right. 

The Witness: vVhat is the next one~ 
The Court: Jacques Albert, 318 East 69th Street. 
The Witness: That is a brownstone building. 

No, I can't make out from the appearance at this 
time whether it is a private dwelling or a rooming 
house. I know it is an old brownstone building, 
brownstone house, what we would ordinarily call a 
private house; but it may be a rooming house and it 
may not be. It may be a private brownstone house. 
But sometimes those houses are used also as room­
ing houses. 

His occupation is sales correspondent, (2573) 
Mathieson Alkali Works, Inc., 60 East 42nd Street. 

The Court : The next one is Gerald Kenneth 
Hayward at 308 East 79th Street. 

The Witness: Gerald Kenneth Hayward resides 
at 308 East 79th Street. It is a 16-story apartment 
house, elevator, canopy. It is in the rental class of 
$28 to $4:0 average per room. He is a floor man, 
Manhattan Savings Institution, 7 Rockefeller Plaza. 

The Court: And the next one is Archibald 
Holderman at 315 East 68th Street. 

The Witness: Yes, he· lives in the same building 
as another juror. We might as "\vell take both up at 
the same time. 

The Court : What is the other juror~ 
The Witness: David Lovell. 
The Court: Oh, yes. David Lovell. 
The Witness: Now, Mr. Holderman,-
Mr. McGohey: Pardon me. Would you wait just 

a minute until I find it on the lists? 
The Witness: Yes. 
Mr. McGohey: David Lovell? 
The Witness: That is right. 
Mr. McGohey: Yes. Thank you. 
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The Witness : They both reside at 315 East 68th 
Street. This is also a 16-story elevator apartment 
(2574) facing the Julia Richman High School located. 
in the 40th Election District of the 8th Assembly 
District; canopy, elevator apartment; and rentals 
here are $35 and up. 

Mr. Sacher: Per room~ 
The Witness: Per room. 
The Court: Per room, yes. I understood that. 
The Witness: His occupation is-
Mr. 1fcGohey: Which~ 
The Witness : Holderman; we are speaking about 

Mr. Holderman now. Executive, Newcomb-Holder­
man. 

The Court: I didn't quite get that. 
The Witness: Newcomb, N-e-w-c-o-m-b Hold-

erman. 
The Court: Does it show what that business is 1 
The Witness: It does not. It doesn't indicate. 
Mr. McGohey: Does it indicate what address he 

conducts the business at 1 
The Witness: It seems to me as though it is 

the same as his home addre.ss, 315 East 68th. Ac­
cording to this list it says ''Same.'' And under­
neath it it says '' N ewcomb-Holderman. '' 

By Mr. lsserman: 

Q. Referring to that house, you took a personal view 
of that house 1 A. I did. 

(2575) Q. Is it one of the small or large apartments f 
A. Large apartments. 

The Court: This David Lovell's occupation is 
what1 

The Witness: David Lovell is a banker. Laurence 
M. Marks & Company, 49 Wall Street. I have 
described the building as an elevator apartme·nt. 

The Court: Now the next one is Mrs. M.-it 
looks like K-a-c-h-1-e-r, at 500 East 83rd. 

The Witness: Yes. This building is not an 
elevator apartment but it is one of the-I think 
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renovated is the best word to describe it. I have no 
record of the rental. It is located on the southeast 
corner of York Avenue and 83rd Street; 16th Election 
District of the lOth Assembly District. 

The Court: What does it show? 
The Witness: I-Iousewife. 
The Court: The next one is-
Mr. J.VIcGohey: Pardon me, your Honor, before 

you go on there. The original list which was brought 
up from the jury clerk seems to indicate the spelling 
of that juror's name is K-a-e-h-

The Court: Oh yes. I thought that sounded kind 
of funny. K-a-e. Very well. 

Now the next one is Morris Knight of 430 East 
(2576) 88th I think. 

The Witness: This building is located in the 26th 
Election District of the lOth Assembly District. Also 
one of these· renovated houses. I have no record 
of the rental. He is a food checker at Janssen Gray­
bar Hofbrau. 

The Court: The next one is Lyman Brewster 
Ives. 

Mr. McGohey : I would like to .ask, do you know 
if the Janssen Gray bar Hofbrau is a restaurant T 

The Witness: I believe it is. The next one, sir­
The Court: Is Lyman Brewster I ves. I am not 

sure that that is spelled ''I ves'' but as well as I 
could make out your handwriting-

Mr. Isserman: We can check it. 
The Witness: Yes. Lyman Brewster Ives, 

I-v-e-s. 
The Court: That is what I thought. 
Mr. McGohey: That is the way it appears on the 

original list, your Honor. 
The Court: Yes. 
The Witness: He lives at 167 East 87th Street, 

according to the list. This also is an eleva tor apart­
ment house, ten-story, canopy, located in the 12th 
Election District of the Tenth Assembly District. He 
is (2577) in the real estate business at 745 Fifth 
Avenue, Culver H.a1lyday & Company-R-a-l-l-y-
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d-a-y & Company, that is the way it is spelled on this 
list. It is an elevator apartment house. 

The Court: Have you something to indicate the 
rental there~ 

The Witness : I am looking a.t my-I can't, sir. 
I don't. 

By Mr. Isserman: 

Q. Did you see the house yourself f A. Yes, I did. 
Q. Is it one of the houses described a.s a tenement 

house, or the other kind~ A. Oh, no, by no m.eans. This 
is an elevator apartment house. 

Q. Modern house, is it~ A. Definitely. 

The Court: Now the next one is Alfred Traemel, 
T-r-a-e-m-e-1, of 336 East 71st. 

The Witness: Correct. This is also a recon­
verted house. It is in good shape. It is not an 
elevator apartment house. He is a music teacher, 
Music School of Music at 238 East 105th Street. 

Mr. ~1:cGohey : I think your Honor spelled that 
name T-r-a-e. On the original list it appears as 
T-r-o-e. 

The Court: T-r-o-e. 
Mr. McGohey: May I ask a question of the 

(2578) witness~ 
The Court: If it is agreeable to Mr. Isserman. 

Have you any objection~ 
Mr. Isserman: No. 
Mr. MeGohey: Is the Music School of Music in 

your district also~ 
The Witness: Yes, it is. 
The next one is Keith S. McHugh. He lives at 

No. 10 Gracie Square, which is the 18th Election 
District of the lOth Assembly District. This is one 
of what we call in my district super-swank. 

The Court: This is .super-swank f 
The Witness: That is right. Rents range there 

from forty to sixty dollars a room. 
The Court : A room? 
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The Witness: Per room. It is partly coopera­
tive. 

Mr. Isserman : Are they small or large apart­
ments~ 

The Witness: You need a bicycle to get through 
them. This gentleman, his occupation, he is vice­
president of American Tel. & Tel. 

The Court: Now that leaves you one more also 
in Gracie Square, Robert Wason, of One Gracie 
Square. 

The Witness: That is right. 
( 2579) Mr. Isserman: Is that super-swank too, 

Congressman~ -
The Witness: Yes. They are just two buildings 

apart. Also facing Carl Schurz Park. 
14-story, elevator, and has complete works. The 

rentals here, forty to sixty dollars. And also partly 
coope-rative. He is listed here as an executive, 
Manning Maxwell & Moore, Incorporated, Chrysler 
Building, New York. 

By Mr.lsserman: 

Q. Does that, Congressman, complete the list of the 
jurors in your district as furnished to you on Challenge 
Exhibit 66~ A. According to this certificate there are 
only twelve names of jurors on this February panel who 
reside in my district. 

Q. Now have you made a similar study for the jurors 
on the panel of January 17, 1949~ A. I have. 

·Q. And how many-

The Court : Is that the first drawing, or both 
together1 

The Witness: Well, I can't say. This is-one 
is drawn December'-January 7, 1949, and the other 
one drawn November 17, 1948. 

The Court : Those are the two. You are taking 
them together~ 

(2580) The Witness: I have those together. 
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Q. Do you want to take up one at a time 1 What is 
the most convenient for you 1 A I am afraid I have them 
bunched together. 

Q. In other words, you are now giving us the jurors 
on the panel of 1-17-49, those drawn on November 17th, 
as well as those drawn in January~ A. Correct. 

The Court: That is Exhibit 65. 
:Mr. Isserman: Correct. 
The Court : Now I think it would help me if I 

could do what I did before-if he would give me the 
cards right in the order in which he is going to take 
them up and let me get their names down in my 
notes. 

Q. You have no objection to it1 A. No, not at all. 

Mr. Gordon: Your Honor, may I call your atten­
tion to the fact that the Congressman has testified 
about, what I count up, 13 jurors as having been 
given him by counsel for the defendants as living 
within his district. 

The Court : That is right. 
Mr. Gordon: Whereas the panel for February 1, 

1949, Exhibit 66 seems to have 16 pins within his 
district. 

:Mr. Isserman: If your Honor please, Mr. Glad­
stein just called that to my attention. We will make 
a check. Some of the pins are so close to the line 
that they may be very close to the other. But we will 
(2581) check that very carefully and put in what­
ever correction is necessary. 

The Witnes·s: All I can say is, all these addresses 
I have given are definitely in my district. 

The Court: That is all right. 
Mr. Gordon: No question about it. 
The Court : The question is, whether there are 

three more of them, and that will be checked up. 
Mr. Isserman: We will check the exhibit with 

the list; your Honor. 
The Court : The point is that there are 16 pins 

and the Congressman has been testifying about 13 
of them. Is that right~ 
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Mr. Gordon: Yes. There seems to be a 20 per 
cent margin of error. 

The Court: Yes. But they will clear that up 
probably in a few moments. 

:1\-fr. Isserman: Yes; there are a few pins that 
are so close to the line they may be over on the other 
side of the street of the district and so on. But we 
will check that and make it precise. 

The Court : That is all right. 
Mr. Crockett: I move that the statement "20 

per cent margin of error'' be stricken. I think what 
counsel intended to say was that 20 per cent was not 
(2582) covered by the Congressman's testimony. 
That does not necessarily mean that it is an error. 

The Court: Well, I think I understand about it, 
Mr. Crockett. It is just bringing to my attention 
that there is what appears to be a slight discrepancy, 
which is very readily remedied, and Mr. Isserman 
will address himself to that. So that there is no 
misunderstanding. 

Mr. Isserman: We certainly shall. 
The Court: Now the first of those 1s Alfred 

Hayes. 
The Witness: Alfred Hayes resides at 425 East 

86th Street. This is a 16 story elevator apartment, 
canopy, doorman. Rentals there range from thirty­
two to $45. 

Mr. Crockett : Is that per room, per month, 
Congressman~ 

The Witne,s·s: Per room. That is, in that area. 

Q. In what area~ A. That 425 East 86th Street area, 
there, those particular apartment houses on 86th Street. 

Q. Is there any distinguishing characteristic about the 
houses on 86th Street~ A. Well, these houses are very 
large apartment houses, known for large apartments, 
servant quarters, and so forth. . 

Q. Are they in the Gracie Square section? A. No. 
(2583) This is 86th Street. 

Mr. Hayes is a banker, New York Trust Company. 

LoneDissent.org



1111 

Vito M arcantonio-for Defendants on Challenge-Direct 

The Court: Now, William Morrison, I think is 
the next one. 

The Witness: 100 Broadway. New York Trust 
Company, 100 Broadway. 

The next one is William Morrison, who lives at 
171 East 8lst Street. This is one of the older ele­
vator apartment houses known as the Webster, lo­
cated in the 11th Election District of the lOth As­
sembly District. 

Mr. Morrison is a clerk. There is no business 
address given for him here. 

Q. Is that one of the elevator type apartments7 A. 
Yes, it is one of the old elevator type of apartments. 

Q. Still within the group of 30 you are talking about7_ 
A. Definitely. 

Mr. McGohey: Is there any information about 
the rental there~ 

The Witness: 180 ~ 
Mr. McGohey: 171. 
The Court : 171 East 81st. 
The Witness: No, I haven't. The next one is-

Q. May I ask you this, are you ~sufficiently familiar with 
the rentals in your neighborhood for you to tell us (2584) 
whether the rental in that building is more than $35 per 
room? A. I don't want to venture a guess on that par­
ticular apartment. It is an old apartment house. It is a 
well kept elevator apartment. But I don't want to guess 
at the rental there because I am not sure. 

The Court: Otto Kramer. 
The Witness: Otto Kramer lives at 311 East 

70th Street. 
Mr. M,cGohey: 72nd, isn't it~ 
The Witness: 72nd Street. 
The Court: Yes, I have 72nd Street. 
The Witness: 311 East 72nd Street. Elevator, 

doorman, canopy. Located in the 49th Election 
District of the Eighth Assembly District. Rentals 
there are $35 and up. 
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Q. For what? A. Per room. Mr. Kramer is a mill 
agent. 

The Court: A what? A mill agent? 
The Witnes.s : A mill agent, according to this 

list here. 

Q·. Is the company given? A. Yes. J. L. Stifel & Sons, 
Incorporated, 40 Worth Street. 

Q. How do you spell Stifel1 A. S-t-i-f-e-1. 

The Court : The next one is Donald A·shbrook. 
The Witness: Donald Ashbrook lives at 145· 

East (2585) 92nd Street, which is located in the 
63rd Election District of the Ninth Assembly District. 
It is eleven storie.s, elevator, canopy, doorman. He 
is listed here as textiles, Decorative Fabrics Com­
pany, 320 Broadway. 

The Court: The next one is George Harring­
ton. 

Q. Have you any information on the rental on thatt 
A. I don't. Not on that building. 

Q. You know the character of the building, though~ A. 
Y e:s, I have described that. It is a very well-to-do building. 

151 East llOth Street is where Mr. Harrington lives. 
Thi~ is a ;renovated tenement. 

The Court: Renovated what? 
The Witness: Tenement. 
Mr. McGohey : Harrington, is that the name? 
The Witnes.s: Harrington. He is a teacher, 

Institute for the Crippled and Disabled. 
The Court: Now the next one I am not sure I 

got-
The Witness: Edward-
The Court: ·Oh, I beg your pardon. 
Mr. McGohey: May I~ 
The Witness: Yes. 
Mr. McGohey: Is there any information about 

the rental in the place where Mr. Harrington livest 
(2586) The Witness: No, I don't have any. 
The Court: The next one I think is Edward 

Bilkey, but I am not sure about the spelling. 
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The Witness: Edward H. Bilkey, insurance, 55 
Liberty Street. 

Mr. Isserman: That seems to be the spelling on 
the list, B-i-1-k-e-y. 

The Witness: H. E. Bilkey & Company. He lives 
at 145 East 92nd Street. This is an 11-·story, ele­
vator, canopy, doorman, 63rd Election District of the 
Ninth Assembly District. 

The Court : And the rental? 
The Witness: I do not have any rental on my 

list, but it is a very well-to-do apartment house, sir. 
The Court: How about his occupation T 
The Witness: It says insurance, H. E. Bilkey & 

Company, 55 Liberty Street. 
Mr. McGahey: That is H. E. B.ilkey Corporation, 

is it not, Congressman 1 
The Witness: On my list it says Company. 
Mr. McGahey: I do not think it makes any dif-

ference except that the list shows H. E. Bilkey Corp. 
The Court: Yes. 
Mr. Isserman: We ac-cept that correction. 
The Court: The next one I think is Paul Stand­

ard. 
(2587) The Witness: Paul Standard lives at 

445 East 65th Street. It is a six-story walk-up apart­
ment. It face-s York Avenue, but it is a very modern 
one; I imagine this is one of the last built in that 
section; it is the newest one of the tenements all 
around it. Even though it has no elevator it is a 
comparatively new apartment facing York Avenue. 
445 East 65th Street. 

The Court : How about the rent? 
The Witness: I have no rental record. 
The Court: You have nothing about the rentals Y 
The Witness: No, I do not, not on that building. 
The Court: How about his occupation? 
The Witness: He is a journalist, Penguin Books, 

Incorporated, 36 Central Park West. 
The Court : N e:x.t comes Stephen Stackpol. 
The Witness: .Stephen Stackpollives at 249 East 

81st Street; brand new building; no elevator. I have 
no rental record. 
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By Mr. Isserman: 

Q. How many stories is it, do you know, offhand 1 A. 
I should say about six stories. 

The Court : Swanky~ 
The Witness: No. I would say modern. 
(2588) The Court: How about his occupation 1 
The Witness: His occupation~ Stackpol, Ad-

ministrator, Carnegie Corporation of New York, 522 
Fifth Avenue. 

Q. May I ask you one question : You used the word 
"modern" with respect to the type of building. Just what 
do you mean by that~ A. Well, I would not put it in the 
class of tenements and I would not put it in the cla;ss of 
these large elevator apartments that I have described. I 
would put them in between. 

The Court: Now, the next one is, I think, Albert 
Swerling, but I can't make that out very well. 

Mr. McGohey: Swerling. 
The Witne.ss: Swerling. 
The Court: S-w-e-r-1-i-n-g f 
The Witness: Yes. Lives at 152 East 94th 

.Street. 
The Court: 84th, isn't it 1 
Mr. McGohey: No. 
The Witness: I have 94th. 
Mr. McGohey: The list shows 94th. 
The Witne-ss: It is 94th on the card, sir. 
The Court : .All right. 
The Witness: 152 East 94th Street; very modern, 

12-story elevator apartment. 
(2589) The Court: How about the rentals1 
The Witness: I have no record of rental on that 

building. 
The Court : .And the occupation f 
The Witness: Exporter-
Mr. Gladstein: I might say at that point, your 

Honor, concerning the occupation of Mr. Swerling, 
that a check of the Register of Directors and E·xecu­
tives-
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Mr. McGahey: Oh, I object to this now. The 
witness is testifying, and I don't think we ought to 
have any testimony from ·counsel. 

Mr. Gladstein: No testimony. I wanted to refer 
you to a document-

Mr. ~1cGohey: I move to strike it, your Honor. 
Mr. Gladstein: I am referring to something that 

has been identified in evidence, Poor's Registry, and 
I .simply wanted to call attention at this point when 
the man's name was mentioned, to the contents of 
that Directory of Directors, that is all. 

The Court : Is that something in evidence' 
Mr. Gladstein: I do not think it has been re­

ceived but it has been marked for identification. 
The Court: Then it is not in evidence, but that 

you can come to later. That is all right. 
Mr. Gladstein: It was just a good opportunity 

(2590) for your Honor to take this information 
down. 

The Court: You can call it to my attention later. 
Mr. Gladstein: All right, will your Honor make 

a note regarding Mr. Swerling and also regarding 
Mr. Bilkey-

Mr. McGahey: If your Honor please, I press 
the objection on the ground that it is irrelevant, and 
the document that is being talked about is not in 
evidence. 

The Court: Strictly speaking, that is so, Mr. 
McGahey, but I do not think any great harm is done, 
and I think you just better let that go now-

Mr. Gladstein: And take it up later~ 
The Court (Continuing): We have been getting 

along :so nicely here for the last few minutes or so 
that I would rather let that matter pass and not rule, 
and we will go on. 

The Witness: According to the exhibit before 
me, Mr. Swerling is an exporter executive at Dayton, 
Price & Company, Limited, No. One Park Avenue. 

By Mr. lsserman: 

Q. While you have not got the rental of the house in 
question, can you relate it in appearance to Gracie .Square 
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that you have talked about~ A. Yes. Very modern, 
(2591) elevator and twelve-story. I would put that in 
the swanky class. 

Mr. Isserman : I think it is a word your Honor 
first used here the other day. 

The Court : Well, I don't like to get sotnething 
:started here, but I doubt it. I might have. Anyway, 
I think we better go ahead. It won't make much 
difference who started it. 

Mr. Isserman: I wasn't making a serious point 
of it, your Honor. 

The Court: I know you were not. Now, we are 
doing .so nicely, let us keep going before something 
gets started again and then we have to let it subside. 
Now everything has subsided and calm, and we are 
doing all right. 

So the next one we have is Charles Mason. 
The Witness: Charles Mason. Charle.s Mason 

lives at 315 East 68th Street. I have described that 
building in describing one of the apartments in which 
one of the jurors of the February panel-

The Court: Yes, that is a 16-story elevator apart-
ment with a ·canopy. 

The Witness: That is right. 
The Court: And $35 plus per room. 
The Witness: Correct. His occupation, marine 

(2592) towing. 

Q. What is that~ A. I have marine towing here. 

Mr. McGohey: That is what the list shows, 
marine towing. 

The Court: Now, the next one is John Philip 
Mayer. 

The Witness: That is 409· East 118th Street. 
That is up in the 23rd Election District of the 16th 
Assembly District. It is a private brownstone build­
ing. It is one of the older brownstone buildings. 

The Court : It might be a rooming house or a 
private house~ 

The Witness: It might be either a private house 
or a rooming house, it is hard to tell. 

LoneDissent.org



1117 

Vito Marcantonio-for Defendants on Challenge-Direct 

The Court: What is his occupation? 
The Witness: Paymaster, New York Times, 229 

West 43rd Street. 
The Court: The next one is Jack Wishny, I think. 
The Witness: Jack Wishny, new apartment 

house-
The Court: 330 East 79th Street. 
The Witness: Yes, 330 East 79th Street, Fifth 

Election District of the Tenth Assembly District­
Mr. McGohey: Would you wait just a minute, 

please~ As I am trying to locate it. 
(2593) The Court: Yes. 
Mr. McGohey: What was the addressT 
The Court : 330 East 79th. 
Mr. McGohey: That appears on the list as 

Wishny. 
The Court: All right. 
The Witness: Correet. 

Q. Which panel is that, Mr. MareantonioT A. That is 
the January 17th panel, drawn January 7th. 

The Court : Jack Wishny. Now you say that 330 
East 79th is a new building 1 

The Witness: A new building, ten story, elevator; 
it is one of the nicest buildings in that block. The 
rentals there range from $28-average $28 to $40 
per room. 

The Court: And his occupation T 
The Witness: His occupation, assistant sales 

manager, Calvert Distilleries, 405 Lexington Avenue. 
Mr. Isserman: He switched to Calvert. 
The Court: He probably was there all the time. 
Now that brings us to Mrs. Alice Y ohalem of 308 

East 79th Street. 
The Witness: She lives at 308 East 79th Street; 

that is the Fifth Election District of the Tenth As­
sembly District. This is a 16-story elevator apart­
ment, (2594) canopy, and rentals here are $28 to 
$40 a month average per room. Occupation, house­
wife. 

The Court: That brings us to Emanuel Salmon, 
230 E·ast 71st Street. 

LoneDissent.org



1118 

Vito Marcantonio-for Defendants on Challenge-Direct 

The Witness: Yes. This is an elevator, six­
story apartment, canopy; that is right next to Mary­
mount College-

Mr. Isserman: May we just pause for a moment 
until we locate the name on the list~ 

Mr. McGohey: What is the name, sir~ 
The Witness: Salmon. 
The Court: Emanuel Salmon is what I have. 
The Witness: I better check it. H-a-l-m-a­
The Court: Just a minute. 
The Witness: The name is Salma, S-a-1-m-a; it 

is on your panel of January 7th-January 7th panel 
drawn on November 17th. 

The Court: The witness is saying that it is the 
7th of January drawing. 

The Witness: No, drawn November 17th. 
The Court: All right. 
The Witness: The name is Emanuel Salma. 
The Court: Does everybody say that, too~ 
l\{r. McGohey: That is what the list shows too, 

your Honor. 
( 2595) The Court : S-a-1-rn-a. I will make this 

change in my notes. 
The Witness: He lives at 230 East 71st Street, 

46th Election District of the Eighth Assembly Dis­
trict, six-story-

The Court: Yes, you have given us that. 
The Witness: -elevator apartment, canopy, 

right next to Marymount College. 
The Court: Yes, you told us that. 
The Witness: The rooms here are $30 and up. 
The Court: Thirty and up, all right. 
The Witne-ss: Occupation, teacher, New York 

University, University Heights. 
The Court: The next one is Eliot Butler Willauer. 
The Witness: 425 East 86th Street, 16-story 

apartment, canopy, elevator; it is one of these build­
ings with tenements around, one of these buildings 
that juts out, swanky apartment house. 
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Q. What do you mean by the expression • 'juts out'' 7 

The Court : Well, it is all surrounded by tene­
ments . 

.A. Yes, this building comes up. I said it was a 16-story. 
Occupation is architectural draftsman, Eggers & Higgins. 

The Court : Now the next one-I suppose you 
(2596) have no rental figures for that~ 

The Witness: When I don't give the rental 
:figures it means I don't have them. 

The Court: Yes, that is what I thought. Now 
the next roan-

The Witness : I beg your pardon, I do have it. 
Mr. Isserman: Your Honor, the witness say;s he 

has it. 
The Witness: No, I am in error. The rental 

figure is for 525 instead of 425 E~ast 86th. I don't 
have it. 

The Court : Now, the next man is George Fiel 
Pearson who lives in the same building, so you need 
not repeat the description of the building, and just 
give his occupation. 

The Witne·ss: He is an insurance broker, own 
business, 103 Park A venue. 

The Court: Now the next one is Lewis M. Russell 
at 315 East 68th, which is the building which you 
have previously described. 

The Witness : Yes, I have described that. That 
makes three jurors in the same building. 

The Court: I think it is four, isn't it~ 
The Witness: Four~ 
The Court: Yes, it is four. That is the (2597) 

fourth one in the same building. 
His occupation~ 

The Witness : Advertising representative, Mac­
fadden Publications. 

The Court : Now the last one is Clarence Stuart 
at 430 E·ast B6th. 

The Witness: That is right. I have described 
that building, I believe-no, I have described 435. 
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16-story, canopy, elevator; also with tenements sur­
rounding it; this big swanky building juts out there. 
Textiles-I can't make it out, I think it is Best & 
Company. 

Mr. McGohey: Beir, it seems to be on the list. 
The Witness: Beir & Company. 
Now, may I say on this list that was given to 

me there are two other names which are not in my 
Congressional District, so that there is no margin of 
error here. There is one, 322 East 59th Street. I 
take the odd-numbered street on 59th Street. The 
even-numbered street is in the 17th Congres.sional 
District. 

By Mr. lsserman: 

Q. In other words, 59th Street is one of the boundary 
streets? A. Correct. And then there is another one here 
on West 72nd Street, which is all the way over in Sol 
Bloom's district. That completes the number of jurors in 
my district. 

( 2598) Mr. Isserman: If the Court please, be­
fore going on to another panel it might be well to 
take our noon recess at this point. 

The Court : Well, do you propose to do this 
through all the panels? 

Mr. Isserman: You see, we are faced, of course, 
with the problem of sufficient sampling in the absence 
of any rulings, but I would say it is not our intention 
to go into detail through all the panels, your Honor. 

The Court: Any other testimony that you de.sire 
to elicit from this witness besides such as he has 
already given~ 

Mr. Isserman: Yes, I had intended to-I had 
put three panels on here. I had intended to take 
him through three panels and then go to other testi­
mony. 

The Witness: May I suggest we complete this 
other panel? There are only about ,six or seven 
names. 

LoneDissent.org



1121 

Vito M arcantonio-fo r Defendants on Challenge-Direct 

The Court: I will give consideration to that, 
and we will take a recess now until 2.30. 

1\fr. McGohey what is your position on this matter 
of this long-drawn-out affair of all these panels~ I 
am disposed to curtail the proof wherever I can, but 
I don't want to make any ruling that might prejudice 
the defendants in any way. 

Mr. McGohey: Your Honor, I don't see the 
(2599) materiality of it at all. 

The Court: I think possibly I will listen to the 
proof as to one more panel, and then we will see what 
we do then. 

You say, l\1r. Marcantonio, that there are only 
,six or seven names in the next one~ 

The Witness: I will ,count them to be accurate. 
The Court: Well, if it is eight, it won't make 

any difference. 
The Witness: 13. 
The Court : Well, I think I will after lunch hear 

the proof as to this next panel, and then I will listen 
briefly to what may be said about going any further. 
My disposition, I think, will be not to permit that 
course to be pursued indefinitely, but I will at least 
go that far. So we will now adjourn until 2.30. 

Mr. Isserman: If the Court please, just as a 
matter of personal indulgence, can we come back at 
2.45 instead of 2.30 ~ There is some little matter 
that would occupy me. 

The Court: You know, if there were some way of 
starting earlier and then finishing a little earlier in 
the afternoon, that would be better for me. (2600) 
You see, these daily hearings and all the work I am 
doing on all these exhibits and testimony is be­
coming very fatiguing to me, and I had planned to 
start off this afternoon not too late to some place 
where I can get a little rest. 

Now, if we start later that means that our idea 
of doing that will scarcely materialize. Why don't 
we-

Mr. Isserman: Well, it is not important, your 
Honor. I think I could waive it. 

LoneDissent.org



(2601) 

1122 

0 olloquy of 0 ourt and Counsel 

The Court: My inclination would be to start at 
2.30 and finish at four. That is the schedule, unless 
somebody objeets to that. .So that is what we will 
do. 

(Recess to 2.30 p.m.) 

AFTERNOON SESSION 

VITO MARCANTONIO, resumed the stand . 

• • 

Mr. Gladstein: If your Honor please, I have just 
spoken to Mr. McGohey about this matter that I 
would like to ask the Court about. There are some 
records that have been subpoenaed that are. in the 
office of the jury clerk. These are documents that I 
have seen and where they are covered by subpoena 
duces tecum. However, to accommodate all of us, 
it would be advisable I think if some of them were 
photostated in order to allow us to work on them 
over the weekend. 

And in talking with Mr. Connell and his deputy 
I was advised that if the Court permitted that to be 
(2602) done or directed that we might have photo­
stats made, it would be entirely satisfactory with 
them. They have a photostat man who would be 
available this afternoon. So I would ask-I have 
spoken to Mr. McGohey about this; these are going 
to be matters that would be brought into court, they 
are under .subpoena, and it would save time if we 
could photostat them in advance. 

The Court : Are they voluminous! . 
Mr. Gladstein: Well, they won't be so volumin­

ous that the photostat man can't handle them. But 
they would be if they were brought into court. 

The Court: What do you say, Mr. McGohey1 
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Mr. McGohey: I have no objection to that, your 
Honor. 

The Court: Very well. That may be done. 
J\1r. Gladstein: Yes. These I may identify as 

76 lists on which there are names of people who went 
into the petit jury panels and some went into the 
grand jury panels. 

The Court: Very well. 
Mr. McGohey: No objection at all, your Honor. 
The Court: Very well. 

Direct examination continued by Mr. lsser.man: 

Q. We will suspend the analysis of the next panel, Mr. 
Congressman, and go into another matter for the time 
(2603) being. 

Now from your work, political and community work in 
your district and your residence there ever since you were 
born, and in connection with your work, have you had oc­
casion to study the racial composition and the national 
origin of the people in your district~ .A. I have. 

Q. Can you tell us briefly if you will, summarize that 
composition if you can by relation to geographic parts of 
your district 1 A. That section known as Yorkville which 
is south of 96th Street, the racial composition there is I 
should say about 60 per cent Americans of Irish descent. 
The balance is divided between Americans of German des­
cent-among Americans of German descent, Czechoslo­
vakian descent, Italian descent, Hungarian, and a very 
small group of Jewish descent. 

North of 96th Street, the area immediately north of 
96th, 96, 97, 98, is of Irish descent. 98, 99, 100 is American 
Negro descent. The East River Housing Projects, that is 
between 102nd and 105th, that is a mixture of all races, 
predominantly of Italian descent, Porto Rican descent and 
Negro, and Jewish. 

Then the rest of the area from 105th Street up all the 
way to the bridge east of Third A venue- ( 2604) east 
of Lexington Avenue, is predominantly of Italian descent. 
Then between Fifth A venue to Lexington Avenue, with 
the exception of three election districts, 118, 119, 117 and 
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'15 a,nd '16, part of 114th Street is Negro and the balance 
is Porto Rican. 

Q. Just to clarify your statement, the few election dis­
tricts you mentioned by name are predon1inantly Negro 
districts, is that correct~ A. Correct. 

Q. Now are there any Negroes or Porto Ricans living 
in your district below the 99th Street line~ A. There are 
very few. 

Mr. McCabe: May I ask what the Congressman 
means by ''the bridge''~ 

The Witness: I am sorry. 
The Court: Th~d is the Triboro I think. 
The Witness: No, no. 129th Street, the bridge 

separates the Bronx from Manhattan. There are 
three bridges there, Third Avenue, Second Avenue 
and First A venue Bridge. 

Q. Is that on the northerly line of your district? A. 
That is right. That is the northern boundary of my dis­
trict. 

(2605) The Court: Oh yes. I was off on the 
wrong track. I am glad you brought that out, Mr. 
McCabe. I see now what you mean. It is the most 
northerly of those three bridges that you were speak­
ing of. 

The Witness : That is right. 
Mr. Isserman: It is this one right here, I be­

lieve (indicating on map). 
The Witness: The Harlem River. 
The Court: Yes. 

By Mr. I sserman: 

Q. In the two panels that you have examined thus far 
did you find any jurors north of the 99th Street line 1 A. 
I think we found three. Harrington, Forrester-

Q. Forster. A. Forster or Forrester, I don't recall 
which one, and-I don't remember the name of the third 
one. I think that was the paymaster-

The Court: Mayer. 
The Witness: Mayer, the paymaster of the New 

York Times. 
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Q. Now in your work in your district and the knowl­
edge of that district have you become acquainted with 
numerous persons living in that district1 A. Definitely. 

Q. Have you any estimate about how many you con­
fer with in the course of any week1 (2606) A. Well, 
when Congress is in session and I am in New York only 
on Saturday and Sunday I see at my Yorkville office over 
200 people a week, and I see at my East Harlem office 
on Sundax afternoon over 300 people a week. 

When Congress is not in session and I am at my Con­
gressional office all week long I can safely say that I see 
a good seven hundred, eight hundred people a week. 

Q. And in addition to this number you have a great 
many occasions where you meet other people in your dis­
trict, is that correct' A. Definitely. 

Q. Now just one more question on that: and that habit 
of yours of meeting people, as you have described, in your 
district goes back how many years~ A. Since I have been 
a member of Congress, 1935. 

Q. ·Now, in the course of your meeting these people 
and your study of your district, have you become ac­
quainted with the general occupational characteristics of 
the people whom you represent¥ A. Yes, I have. 

Q. Now using the 99th Street line as a boundary, will 
you tell us the occupational characteristics of the people 
in your district living north of that line T A. Well, I 
don't have to use that line. 

Q. Well, then, you do it the way you can, the way 
(2607) you know best. A. I can say that in the main-

Mr. McGohey: I object, your Honor, to any 
such generalization as this. 

The Court: Sustained. 
Mr. Isserman: Your Honor, I could do it block 

for block and election district by election district. 
Mr. Marcantonio does know the facts. I thought we 
could generalize to some degree. I am willing to 
qualify him further on specific knowledge of specific 
blocks in his district, in his area. 

The Court: I will permit a brief general state­
ment and then we will see what it amounts to. 
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A. (Continuing) In the main the people of my district 
are wage earners; by that I mean specifically they work 
in factories; they work in the construction field, brick­
layers, plasterers, carpenters, cement helpers. Then we 
have also needleworkers and some white collar workers. 

The Court: Some what1 
The Witness: White collar workers. 

Q. Would you amplify that just a little bit 1 A. Yes. 
Clerks, stenographers, people who do clerical work in the 
various industries in the city, but I can definitely state 
that 95 per cent of the people in my district receive wages 
for a living. Then we have (2608) unemployed also. 

The Court: What is the percentage of unem­
ployed, do you suppose 1 

The Witness: It is going up, Judge. It is going 
up every day. The percentage is hard to fix at this 
time, but-

The Court : There is no reason to guess if you 
don't want to. 

The Witness: I don't want to guess. I would 
rather not guess, except to state the number of un­
employed is growing daily. 

By Mr. Isserman: 

Q. But at this point is it a relatively small percentage 
of the working class community in your district 1 A. I 
would not say small. 

Q. Well, could you give us some estimate? A. I would 
rather not venture a. guess. I would definitely say, how­
ever, that out of every hundred people there must be about 
ten unemployed, especially during the month of January 
the lay-offs have been tremendous. 

Q. You mean January 1949? A. 1949. People work­
ing in the hotel industry-

The Court Well, I don't think you need to 
amplify it in more detail. I think that will suffice. 
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Q. Now, a moment ago in your reference to wage 
(2609) earners, can you tell us in what way you used that 
term as distinguished from any other term denoting in­
come, such as salary1 A. Well, let me put it this way: 
I would say that the average income is about $2,500 a 
year per family. 

Q. And did the term ''wage earner'' connote the me-thod 
of payment in your mind when you gave us that term t 
A.. It connotes the method of earning a living. In other 
words, they are employed by somebody and they are 
working at trades; they are not professional people as 
doctors, lawyers or executives. 

The Court : You mean they are paid by the 
hour or by the day 1 

The Witness: Either by the hour or by the day. 
Mr. Isserman: I just didn't want to lead the 

witness, your Honor. 
The Court : That is all right. 

Q. Now can you give us any estimate of the number 
of residence buildings in your area excluding the 25 or 
30 apartments that you made reference tot By ''area" 
I mean in your Congressional District, a rough estimate . 
.A. I have never made a count. However, the average 
block-! don't believe I am overstating the case-the 
average square block has about 30 buildings. Of course, 
you get some square blocks that may be smaller-

(2610) The Court: How many did he sayt 30! 
The Witness: 30. 
The Court: These are these tenements you 

are talking about7 
The Witness: Yes. There may be a little more 

or less. But I don't think I am actually overstat­
ing that. 

The Court : That is, rooming houses, these 
brownstone places, tenements, and things like that! 

The Witness: Exactly. Sometimes you may have 
a block where it is all tenements, a square block. 
On the other hand you may have a block where you 
have a series of brownstone rooming houses, which 
make more buildings in that particular block. 
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Q. Now, have you any rough figure in mind as to the 
minimum aggregate number of residential buildings other 
than those apartments~ A. Other than the apartments 1 

Q. Yes, a rough minimum figure of the total aggregate. 
A. Roughly, 5,000 or 6,000. I say roughly. I have not 
made a count. 

The Court : Yes. I should think that would be 
pretty rough. I don't see much value in a man's 
guess as to how many buildings there are in such 
an area as this. I don't think it is necessary for 
you. 

Mr. Isserman: Well, he has answered the 
(2611) question, I believe, as best as he can. 

The Court: Yes. 
Mr. Gladstein: Your Honor, may I interrupt 

the questioning for a moment? 
The Court: Yes. 
Mr. Gladstein: I am advised that the clerk with 

respect to the documents that I spoke to the Court 
about desires to have something in the nature of a 
written statement from the Court inasmuch as these, 
he says, are not files copies, and therefore-is there 
some way of communicating to Mr. McKenzie that 
these documents, though they are not file copies­
whatever that term means-are the ones to be photo­
stated? Could that be done? 

The Court : Yes, I think that will be done. 
Mr. McGohey: Your Honor, I wonder if the 

clerk, Mr. Connell, is raising a question as to whether 
or not these are documents that he would produce 
pursuant to a subpoena, or are they documents 
which he would ask the Court to direct him on be­
cause of some idea that they might be confidential T 

Mr. Gladstein: No, I have seen them. They are 
not confidential. 

Mr. McGohey: Well, that seems to answer that 
problem. 

(2612) The Court: I think they are all right. 
Mr. McGohey: Perhaps your Honor could di­

rect Mr. Borman, the clerk, to convey your Honor's 
direction. 
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The Court: Yes. Will you do that, Mr. Borman, 
please? 

The Clerk: Yes. 

By Mr. Isserman: 

Q. Now you used the term ''rooming house'' in your 
description of some of the houses in the area. Are those 
rooming houses predominant in the area 1 A. No, I would 
not say they are predominant, no. I would ·say they are 
scattered, except in one or two blocks you may have them. 

Q. And from your own observation and knowledge of 
the people in your district, have you any opinion as to 
the stability of residence~ A. I would say that the people 
in my district have been living there for many, many 
years. In fact, there are some families that have been 
there for about two generations or more. The exodus has 
been very small. I venture to say that it is smaller than 
from any other Congressional district. 

Q. Now, you mentioned the presence of-

The Court: Now, of course, you realize, Mr. 
Isserman, that proof of that kind is highly specula­
tive. I think it better if you keep that to a limit­

(2613) Mr. Isserman: But, your Honor-
The Court (Continuing): But if my mentioning 

it makes you feel like going into it more, you may 
do so. 

Q. Are you familiar with the various election districts 
in your district, Congressman Marcantonio 1 A. Cer­
tainly. 

Q. And about how many voters are there per Election 
district~ A. The average is 800. 

Q. And are you familiar with, personally familiar with 
about how many voters in your Congressional district t 
A. Well, I think that north of 99th Street there are very 
few voters I don't know, and south of 99th Street I should 
know a bout a good 40, 50 per cent of the district. 

Q. And have you in the course of your work in the 
community visited them at their homes' A. I have can­
vassed, yes. 
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Q. And have you done that on a great many occasions? 
A. In every single election. 

Q. And you meet these people from week to week 1 A. 
I do. , 

Q. Now, in the course of your work in the community 
as an individual and as a Congressman, have you had any 
occasion to consider and investigate the number of Porto 
'Ricans in your district or people of Porto Rican descent? 
A. I made a special study of the Porto Rican migration, 
(2614) and it is a safe estimate to state that within the 
boundary lines, district boundary lines of my Congress­
ional district there are at least 25,000 people who have 
either come from Porto Rico or who are the children of 
Porto Rican parents. 

Q. And are you familiar with a great many of these 
people from Porto Rico~ A. I am. 
· Q. And are many of them to your knowledge enrolled 
'voters in your district~ A. They are. 

Q. Are many of those who are now enrolled voters 
persons whom you know~ A. I do know them. 

Q. Do many of them know how to read and write t A. 
They do. 

Q. And speak English~ A. They certainly do. 
Q. Now, has there beeen any increase in the number 

of Porto Ricans in your district since 1940, if you can 
state1 A. There has been some. 

Q. And approximately what is that increase 1 A. I 
should say that the Spanish speaking population from 
. Porto Rico in my district has increased from about 20 to 
25 thousand. 

The Court: How do you mean~ From 20,000 
when to 25,000 when~ 

The Witness: From 1940, I think there has been 
an increase of at least 5,000. 

The Court : Since 1940 1 
(2615) The Witness: Since 1940. 
The Court: I see. 
Mr. McGohey: Is that 25,000 or 5,0001 
The Witness: 5,000. 
The Court: The increase was twenty to twenty­

five since 19401 
The Witness: That is right. 
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Q. Now do you know from your own experience ·and 
knowledge of your district approximately the number·o·f 
Negroes in your district' A. I am figuring on the basis 
of districts that we consider to be Neg;ro inhabitant 
Election districts. Say we have about five or six thousand 
Negro people in our district. Some reside in the James 
Weldon Johnson project and some reside in the East 
River houses. 

Q. And to your own personal knowledge-

The Court : Some reside in these housing devel­
opments, these low cost housing developments 7 

The Witness: That is correct. 

Q. And are many of those enrolled voters to your per­
sonal knowledge? A. They are. 

Mr. Isserman: May I have a minute, your 
Honor? 

The Court: Yes, you may. 
I suppose some of these families have several 

wage earners in each family. 
The Witness: They have. 

(2616) Q. Now I believe you gave us a figure before 
as to the approximate population in your district. Can you 
tell us briefly what it was, again? A. According to the 
census of 1940 upon which the district was reapportioned, 

. the figure is 297,000 as it appears in the Congressional 
Directory. 

Q. And the number of voters were approximately some .. 
what over a hundred thousand in the last election, is that 
right? A. The 1948 elections, 104 plus something regis­
tered; about a hundred thousand plus voted. 

The Court: Yes. We got that this morning. 
Mr. Isserman: Yes. 

Q. Now, in respect to the people in your district, in the 
sense that you know and have observed, are there many 
between the ages of 21 and 70 ~ A. Very many. 
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Q. And did you have occasion to make any observation 
as to literacy particularly amongst the adults in your dis­
trict? A. Yes. 

Q. What is your knowledge on that situation~ 

Mr. McGohey: I object to this, your Honor. 
The Court : Sustained. 

Q. You have a large-

The Court : Just a second. Mr. Borman has told 
me that if there is any difference as between de­
fense counsel and the clerk in this photostating it is 
because (2617) he may not understand exactly 
what is desired. And I think perhaps if you will 
make a very brief statement here, Mr. Gladstein-

Mr. Gladstein: Why don't I just go up there! I 
will make the statement and then go up. 

The Court: You have already made it before, I 
take it. 

Mr. Gladstein: Yes. 
The Court: And you know just what it is. Well, 

why don't you go up there? 
Mr. Gladstein: With the Court's permission. 
The Court: And perhaps take one of the Govern­

ment counsel up with you. 
Mr. McGohey: Mr. Shapiro. 
The Court: And I take it no point is going to be 

made by any of the defendants that you are out of 
the room for a time. So, if you will just go up there 
and straighten that out it will be all right. And Mr. 
Isserman will continue on in your absence. 

Mr. McGohey: Mr. Shapiro will accompany him. 
The Court: That is all right. 

(Mr. Gladstein and Mr. Shapiro left the court­
room.) 

By Mr. Isserman: 

Q. Now Mr. Congressman, of the many persons you 
know (2618) in your district have you found them to be 
of average intelligence Y 
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Mr. McGahey: I object, your Honor . 

.A. Well, they must be. They voted for me seven times. 

The Court: Sustained. I strike the answer out. 
Mr. Isserman: WiU·your Honor hear met 
The Court: I will hear you. 
Mr. Isserman: My purpose is to indicate that 

the residents of Mr. 1farcantonio 's district, without 
regard to their economic status, are fully able and 
capable of carrying out the duties of citizenship 
which they bear, including the duty of serving on 
juries in this court. 

The Court : Well, I don't think a general omni­
bus .statement of a Congressman covering hundreds 
of thousands of people in a district as to their in­
telligence or literacy is of value to the court. 

Mr. Isserman: You see, your Honor, I was 
obliged to approach the question in this fashion. 
Certainly. we could call the individual persons who 
reside in the area, which we would do without hesi­
tancy if it were a small community-

The Court: Well, I think you would do it with­
out hesitancy, all right, if I let you. 

Mr. Isserman: I said if it were-
The Court: But that is just one of those (2619) 

things you are not going to do. 
Mr. Isserman: Your Honor, I did not .say at this 

point that I would do it, but I am-
. The Court : All right. Now just a second. There 

is one thing that I don't think has been apparent 
to defense counsel. We have a vast area in the City 
of New York, a cosmopolitan area, one of the most 
congested probably there is anywhere in the world, 
and the problem of selecting jurors from such a vast 
aggregation of people is something that I am be­
coming increasingly convinced cannot be demon­
-strated by such proofs as you have been offering. 

Naturally the law gives a vast discretion to the 
people who select the juries, necessarily so. To 
attempt to select so many manual workers, so many 
clerical workers, so many of this and so many_of that, 
and so many of this race and that race and the other 
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race-why, it is just perfectly impossible. Nor was 
it ever intended to have any such thing. 

And the special problem of this huge city here 
is one that differs from the jury selection problem 
elsewhere. And I cannot see that it can be determined 
by this indirect form of proof. It might do for 
some little village or some small town, but for the 
aggregation of human beings in the City of New 
York I think it is an utter futility. 

( 2620) Mr. Isserman: If the Court please, I 
would like to respectfully object to your Honor's 
remarks in characterizing the effort we are making 
here and in indicating that the general proof will 
not be accepted while at the same time the specific 
proof which is available is also not received .. I was 
beginning to point out to the Court-

The Court: Well, I thought, Mr. Isserman, that 
when you came to have the Congressman testify to 
the general complexion of his district that that was 
all right. Now when you come down to his .study of 
literacy or the intelligence of such a large number of 
people, I regard it as of no value. 

Mr. Isserman: But he knows those people, your 
Honor. 

The Court: That is what you say. 
Mr. Isserman: That is what he says. 
The Court: That is what he says. 
Mr. Isserman: And that is the fact. 
The Court: And I must draw conclusions when 

a man says that he knows-what is it~ -104,000 
voters and 297,000 people in there; I must draw my 
own conclusions. And from my own rationalization 
of it I have excluded his statement, or the questions 
that are seeking to elicit his statements about his 
knowledge of the intelligence (2621) and of the 
literacy of such a large number of people. 

Now you take your exception and you are pro-
tected. If I am wrong, why, that is something that­

Mr. Isserman: I was in the middle-
The Court: -that you can have corrected. 
Mr. Isserman: I was in the middle of my ob­

jection when your Honor interrupted to misconstrue 
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a statement that I made. I said, conditionally­
The Court: I wish you would not say that I do 

that, to misconstrue. 
Mr. Isserman: It seems to me to have been mis­

construed. 
The Court : That seems an impertinent thing. 
Mr. Isserman, that seems an impertinent thing. 

You are an experienced lawyer and you know better 
than to do that. 

Now, you lawyers have been at that here for three 
weeks, perhaps to provoke me-l don't know what 
the reason may be. But I do know that if you keep it 
up some day, perhaps now, perhaps hereafter there 
will be a time of reckoning. Now, please don't do 
that. 

:Mr. Isserman: And I would like now to object 
to your Honor's characterization of my comment. 

Now, the statement that I was making-
The Court : Well, when you charge me with 

deliberately mi~construing something I regard that 
as (2622) impertinence. 

Mr. Isserman: I did not say it was deliberate, 
your Honor. But I said it .seemed to me to be that. 
But, in any event, what I was saying was this: I 
·said if this were a small community the method of 
proof, as indicated by the cases, would be to call the 
persons directly involved. Your Honor has thus 
far conditionally ruled that your Honor would not 
allow the calling of those persons who would give 
the direct evidence on their status. 

The Court: There is no condition about it. I 
have said positively that I won't let you do it. 

:Mr. Isserman: Then your Honor has i:r;t effect 
ruled that this would not be allow~? d. 

The Court: I have ruled that this idea of call­
ing every member of the population or every member 
from 1'Ir. Marcantonio's district or every voter or 
every inhabitant from any othe-r district I will not 
permit, and I won't. And if it can be stated any 
clearer than that so that you may have your ex­
ception in the most positive and unequivocal manner, 
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I can try to restate it but I think that is pretty 
clear. 

Mr. Isserman: Now I said, if it were a small com­
munity that would be the way of proceeding. Now, 
when the Court rules out the direct evidence then 
there (2623) necessarily must be a falling back 
upon secondary evidence; and secondary evidence 
invariably, by its nature, is evidence which has not 
the sharp, direct, probative value of direct evidence. 

The Court: Now, Mr. Isserman-
Mr. Isserman: Now, the reason why-
The Court: Let me say something to you. In 

every judicial proceeding that I am familiar with, 
and I have had a pretty large experience at the bar, 
when the Court indicated that it didn't want any 
more argument on a point the lawyer quietly de­
sisted. If he chose to except he noted his exception 
and went on to something else. Here, perhaps in an 
endeavor to wear me out, which it is gradually 
doing, you keep that up, and you make the argument 
or arguments just are you are doing now. And I 
say, as I have said before, that that in my judgment 
is not the proper conduct of an attorney. It is 
extremely wearing on the Court in a trial of this 
kind. I suppose it will \vind up by bringing me 
down. I hope it won't. I may have the strength 
to go on, and I hope I shall. But I tell you-stop 
it. 

Mr. Isserman: I would like to take exception to 
your Honor's remark as an improper characteriza­
tion of my conduct. 

(2624) I would like to state my-complete my 
objection for the record if I may. 

The Court : Yon insist on going ahead again, 
and all I can do, as I do not intend to make a rum­
pus about it, is to advise you again-please desist; 
and then, if you insist upon going on, why, you must 
take the consequences, whatever they may be. 

Mr. Isserman: May I state my objection for the 
record~ 

The Court: You may not. 
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Mr. McCabe: May I respectfully suggest, your 
Honor-

The Court: Now it is your turn to go after me, 
is it~ 

Mr. McCabe: No, not at all, not at all. I am 
making a suggestion which I think is normal when 
the credibility or value of a witness's testimony is 
under scrutiny; that the Congressman's ability to 
testify as to the qualification for service on a jury 
of the hundred thousand persons in his district 
might well be subjected to the ordinary test of cross­
examination rather than to arbitrary exclusion by 
your Honor. I should not have used "arbitrary,'' 
and I withdraw that. But exclusion without any 
test. I don't think your Honor should assume at 
the beginning that the Congressman (2625) is un­
able to testify. 

The Court: You know, Mr. McCabe, what we 
are talking about now is my excluding the question 
to the Congressman of whether he can tell us about 
the intelligence of these 297,000 people and their 
literacy. That is what you are arguing about. 

Mr. McCabe: Wasn't that the point to which I 
addressed myself~ 

The Court: I say it does not need any argu­
ment. Now, some day somebody will read this rec­
ord and they will see just how many times this same 
1sort of thing has been going on, and some body may 
be brought to judgment. 

I am not going to attempt to use up my physical 
resources in telling you any more. So if you want 
to go ahead, after what I have said, I am not going 
to try to stop you. It is just too wearing. 

Mr. Sacher: I have an observation to make, 
your Honor. I think it would be a misunderstand­
ing of our purpose if the Court were to believe that 
we have any aim at any time to harass the Court 
or to do anything of impropriety. I think that while 
your Honor's health is of grave concern or great 
concern to yourself and those who are near to you, 
we lawyer,s have the responsibility of defending the 
freedom and liberty of twelve men and also to de-
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fend the right of their political party to (2626) 
exist, to say nothing of their wives and children. 

The Court : You may wear me down. 
JYir. Sacher: No, it isn't a question of wearing 

you down. 
The Court: But my own personal opinion is that 

you won't. 
Mr. Sacher: Well, I don't intend to, I don't 

want to. And that is not a purpose that I have set 
myself. 

The Court: The best way to avoid it is to sit 
down and let the matter rest with my ruling exclud­
ing the two questions. 

Mr. Sacher: I just want to make this observa­
tion, if I may. Your Honor did not limit himself 
to a statement of ruling. Your Honor made an ob­
servation concerning the state of our proof, and 
you said because of the nature of Manhattan Island 
or of the .Southern District it was impossible to do 
things in a certain way. And I respectfully submit 
that that evidences a misconception on the Court's 
part of the tendency of our proof. If New York 
is all that your Honor says it is, how come that this 
jury clerk always manages to find his jurors from 
the 17th Congressional District~ And how come 
that this jury clerk never hits any one of the hun­
dred thousand people from-

( 2627) The Court : Now Mr. Sacher, just lower 
your voice a little bit. 

Mr. Sacher: All right, your Honor, I am sorry: 
if I am carried away. 

The Court: That is the same sort of thing that 
you have repeated again, again and again, and that 
is the sort of repetition that I do not de.sire. 

Mr. Crockett: If the Court please­
The Court: Ah, Mr. Crockett. 
Mr. Crockett: I should like to address the Court. 
The Court: Well, we are going to have every 

one of you take a crack at me, eh ~ Well, go ahead. 
Mr. Sacher : I wish to note an exception. 
Mr. Isserman: I take an exception to your Hon­

or's remark. 
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The Court: Yes. Go ahead, go ahead. Take a 
couple of exceptions. 

Mr. Crockett: As a matter of fact, I have been 
unusually quiet, because this morning when your 
Honor was inviting comment-

The Court: Yes, but now you see a chance to 
follow up a little harassment and you can't resist 
it? 

Mr. Crockett: No, it isn't that. 
The Court: Yes, go ahead. 
(2628) Mr. Crockett: I sort of feel badly over 

the fact that this morning when you invited com­
ment you did not ask me to speak on the matter, and 
I thought that maybe at this time .you would care to 
hear what I did think about it. 

Well, I have only two observations to make. A 
day or two ago the Court pointed out that at the 
conclusion of the ·taking of testimony in this case 
no time would be allowed for the .submission of 
briefs, and that if counsel had any authorities to 
which the Court's attention should be directed that 
should be done in the course of the presentation of 
testimony. 

The Court: No; what I said was that when the 
evidence was closed there would be no additional 
time for briefs but that I would be glad to receive 
whatever briefs might be submitted during the con­
tinuance of the proceeding. And I mentioned spe­
cifically the fact that you might busy yourselves 
over this week end in getting something up for me. 
I did not ask for more talk during the taking of the 
testimony. 

Mr. Crockett: Well, I do not regard what I am 
saying as just more talk, and I am certain your Hon· 
.or did not intend to characterize it as that. 

The Court : When you read the record you will 
see that what you said was that I had indicated that I 
wanted some (2629) enlightenment orally during 
the proceeding, and I consider that not what I said 
at all, and as I like to have the record straight I 
made the statement I just made. 
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Now, go ahead, without bringing in those other 
matters. If you have something to say about these 
two questions that I ruled out that have been ad­
dressed to Mr. Marcantonio, go ahead and do it. 

Mr. Crockett: I seem to recall distinctly the 
Court's statement that "If you gentlemen have any 
authorities to which you care to direct my atten­
tion I suggest that you do it as we go along." 

The Court: That is right. Not orally. Hand 
me up a memorandum with them. I can read. 

Mr. Crockett: I appreciate that fact, your Hon­
or, and I am very much aware of it. 

However, what I want to point is that the method 
of proof we have been pursuing here by calling an 
outstanding member of the community to testify 
concerning the approximate number of people in the 
district, about their knowledge, the basis of qualifi­
cation for jury service, is precisely the type of proof 
that has been offered and accepted in the overwhelm­
ing majority of cases coming up from the South, 
where it was necessary (2630) to prove Negro 
exclusion. 

In those cases counsel did not rely on the clerk 
and the court officials perhaps because he was aware 
of the characterization which Mr. Gladstein men­
tioned yesterday as having been made by your Hon­
or. What normally happens is that they call in 
some outstanding person in the community to es­
tablish the fact that there are qualified Negroes in 
the county who had not served as member.s of the 
jury over a long period of years, and that proof has 
always been received, has always been considered 
by the Supreme Court. 

In effect what we are doing here is .calling the 
most outstanding person in the 18th Congressional 
District, who already has demonstrated his knowl­
edge of the area and of the people in the area, and 
asking him to do precisely what has already been 
approved by the, courts in similar cases challeng­
ing grand jurors in the South, which cases eventual­
ly went to the Supreme Court. 

That is the first observation I wanted to make. 
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The second one I wanted to make is this, and 
that is that it seems to me that this proceeding is· 
in the nature-

The Court: Have you some ease, Mr. Croekett, 
to cite to me where the Supreme Court held that it 
was all right to ask a politician or Congressman a 
blanket question ( 2631) about the literacy of all 
the people in his district or the intelligence of all 
the people in his district? · Have you such a case f 

Mr. Crockett: I want first of all to object to 
the Court's characterization of Congressman Mar­
cantonio as a politician. 

The Court: Yes, and you will just answer as 
you did the last time. 

Mr. Crockett: I wish also to object to your state­
ment with reference to my own conduct. I think 
the record will show that on. each occasion I have 
given the Court an answer when I was asked to 
give an answer. 

The Court : I think not. 
Mr. Crockett : Now in this case your Honor is 

requesting that I refer you to some cases. 
The Court: That is right. 
Mr. Crockett: That is what I want to do. 
The Court : Go ahead and do it. 
Mr. Crockett: The case of Patton vs. Missis­

sippi is one. 
The Court: Wait a minute. Penn vs. Missis­

sippi 1 
Mr. Crockett: Patton vs. Mississippi. 
The Court: What is the citation 1 And for once 

give me the official citation. 
Mr. Crockett: If your Honor prefers, I will 

( 2632) prepare a list of these cases and give it to 
you in the morning. 

The Court : No. I will check this one right now 
and we will see if there is anything in there on the 
subject. 

Mr. Crockett: Patton vs. Mississippi is 332 
u.s. 463. 

The Court: Now, if you will just .sit down and 
let me get a look at this book. (Reading.) 
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Well, I find absolutely nothing in that opinion 
which even remotely touches the subject under dis­
cussion. 

So we will proceed now without any further ar­
gument, please. 

Mr. Crockett: I should like merely to request 
permission to give the Court a memorandum, your 
Honor. 

The Court: Well, if you are going on, Mr. Croc­
kett, you are doing it in defiance of my request of 
you. 

Mr. Crockett: I am not arguing; I am merely 
trying to get permission to submit a memorandum­

The Court: You are talking. Go on, keep it up. 

By Mr. Isserman: 

Q. Congressman Marcantonio, without regard to all the 
people in your Congressional district, and confining the 
question to the people whom you personally know amongst 
(2633) the voters in the district, amongst the Negro and 
Porto Rican population and the population of Italian 
origin, are the people that you know capable of carrying 
out all their duties of citizenship? 

Mr. McGohey: I object to that. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Are the people that you know of the group I have 
just described people of average intelligence? 

Mr. McGohey: I object. 
The Court : Sustained. 

A. They had to pass a literacy test in order to vote. 

The Court: The answer is stricken out. 

Q. And referring to the same groups, Congressman 
Marcantonio, I ask you whether or not you know that the 
people that you personally know amongst the voters in the 
groups I have described are persons who can read and 
write 1 A. Definitely. 
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The Court: In striking out the answer, it is not 
intended to rule that inferences legitimately to be 
drawn from the election and voting records may not 
be drawn and asserted by way of argument. 

Mr. Sacher: I am sorry, I missed that. Will you 
be good enough to read that, Mr. Reporter? 

The Court : I am merely saying in substance 
that if it is to be argued, as you may well do, 
that from the (2634) voting lists of so many 
voters, it may be assumed that they passed what­
ever literacy test was necessary in order to vote, 
that I do not mean to eliminate any such thing as 
that; I have merely sustained the objection to the 
question and struck out the answer as addressed 
to this witness. I think you are entitled to draw 
such inferences as may be drawn from the other 
documents in evidence. 

Mr. Isserman: But the question was limited to 
the witness's personal knowledge. 

The Court: What is that? 
Mr. Isserman: The question was limited, how­

ever, to the witness's personal knowledge. 
The Court: That is the part I rule out. 
Mr. Isserman: Now I would like to call atten­

tion to the panel of December-
The Court: Now we are back to that one that 

you were going to take up in the beginning t Very 
well. 

Mr. Isserman: The panel of December 20th. I 
have the wrong one on the easel, and I will replace 
it with the right one. 

The Court: What is the exhibit number of this! 
Mr. Isserman: I am checking it now. 
The Court: All right. 
Mr. McCabe: While we are waiting, your Hon­

or, (2635) might I ask what a literacy test isf 
The · Congressman spoke of a literacy test for a 
voter. I do not think it is in the record yet. 

The Court: I think you had better just let that 
drop for the time being, and we can come· back to 
it after we get this panel done. You know, he wants 
to finish up this afternoon, and you can easily prove 
that matter by anybody or by stipulation. I am 
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anxious to have him finish up about this other panel 
if he can. 

Mr. Isserman: If the Court please, I think we 
can do without the panel. I can't seem to locate it 
at the moment. 

The Court: What is the date of it, Mr. Con-
gre·ssman' 

The Witness: It is the December 20, 1948, panel. 
The Court: December 20, 1948. 
Mr. Isserman: I think the exhibit would be 50. 
The Court: Well, I was looking for the chart­
Mr. McGohey: I think I can help your Honor. 

There is no chart for that panel. 
The Court: Oh, no wonder I couldn't find it. 
Mr. Isserman: That seemed to be my trouble. 

I was trying to check it on my list. 
Mr. MeGohey: But I want to ask now, is that 

one of the panels that was marked for identifica­
tion-

(2636) The Witness: It is. 
Mr. McGahey: -and identified by the witness 

Wilkerson as something that he worked on 1 
Mr. Isserman: It was, and we will offer it in 

evidence, your Honor, at the first opportunity. 
The Court: Yes. That is 50 for identification 1 
~fr. Isserman: That is right. 
Mr. Gladstein: Could I interrupt a moment, 

your Honor, to ask that the clerk and the deputy be 
brought in so we can identify the documents and 
ask your Honor's disposition of a problem that has 
arisen with regard to the photostating~ 

The Court : Yes. 
Mr. Isserman: May we proceed with the wit­

ness in the meantime~ 
The Court: Well, you can just relax for a sec­

ond or two. 
Mr. Isserman: I thought we might dispose of 

the Congressman and let him get away. 
The Court: Well, I am willing to do that, but 

Mr. Gladstein is a little concerned about that, and 
he wants to get it off his mind. 

Mr. Gladstein: That is exactly right, your Honor. 
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The Court : All right. 
Mr. Gladstein: Now, your Honor, these are the 

(2637) lists called-well, they are called not file 
lists but they are lists in the office of :Mr. Connell 
or Mr. Connell's assistant, Mr. McKenzie. These 
are lists of names of residents of the Southern Dis­
trict of New York, and over the course of years, for 
example, the very first one I look at, is dated May 
27, 1940; these contain names and addresses of peo­
ple who were asked to come in and qualify for jury 
service, and who did, and whose names even went 
into the jury active lists, sometimes grand jury, 
sometimes petit jury, and I wanted to have photo­
stats made. For example, the one I hold has stamped 
on the righthand corner, "Federal Grand Jury As­
sociation, 101 Park Avenue,'' and the first name on 
it is Carl W. Ackerman, and the last name-

Mr. McGohey: If your Honor please, I do not 
think it is necessary to solve this problem to read the 
paper. 

Mr. Gladstein: No, I just want to identify the 
document. 

The Court: Now that is all right. Without mak­
ing it too long and pulling in about the Grand Jur­
ors Association you show Mr. M·cGohey a few of 
those, and if he says all right- Are all that batch 
all right, Mr. McGohey f Do you see any reason for 
not having those photostated' 

(2638) Mr. Gladstein: That is the first one. 
The next list has on it the words ''Colored list''-

The Court : Yon don't need to go over those all, 
because you just show that top batch to Mr. Mc­
Gohey, and if he says all right, I am going to direct 
that that top batch he handled with the photostating 
machine, and then we will leave that big bunch on 
the bottom for next week. 

Is that all right, Mr. McGoheyf 
!fr. McGohey: If your Honor please, I have no 

objection to the defense getting any paper that is 
available that the defense thinks it needs. As I 
understand it, the problem here is an administrative 
problem, and the physical problem of getting photo­
stats of this pile of papers. 
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The Court: That is what I say. Let us take just 
the top batch which Mr. Gladstein seems to have in 
his hand now, which would seem to keep them busy 
for two or three days, and then we will come to the 
others later. 

Now, Mr. Connell, these papers that Mr. Glad­
stein has in his hands, you will kindly have photo­
stated if you can conveniently do so. 

Mr. C'onnell : I will do that. 
The Court: Is that a sufficiently clear direc­

tion~ 
(2639) Mr. Connell: It is, Judge. 
Mr. Gladstein: May I identify them for the 

record, your Honor~ 
The Court: I don't think you need to do that. 

You know here we are-
Mr. Gladstein: Can I make a note of thatT 
The Court: You may go outside with Mr. Con­

nell and may make a note there-
Mr. Gladstein : Very well. 
The Court (Continuing) : Because I want to 

finish up with the Congressman this afternoon. 
Mr. Gladstein: Very well. 
The Court: Now, that other big batch there can 

wait until next week. 
Mr. Gladstein: All right, your Honor. 
The Court: Well, now, Mr. Isserman, we are 

gradually getting along in good shape, so you may 
go ahead now with this panel of December 20, and 
I think I shall desist from taking the notes of the 
names and of all the details, and I will just relax a 
little hit and listen now while you go over these, 
because I suppose your contention is that they will 
show about the same as the others. 

Mr. Gladstein: I would think so. 
The Court: Very well, I will just listen (2640) 

and not take notes for a while. 

By Mr. lsserman: 

Q. Congressman, would you give us the name of the 
juror on the panel in each case? A. Yes. 
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Q. And give us the same information concerning that 
juror that you did a·bout the others before the recess' 
A. Edwin Erlich-

Mr. M·cGohey: Just a minute. Do I under­
stand that the original exhibit, the panel, is not 
hereT 

The Court: Well, they must have it here, be­
cause that is what we were looking for this morn­
ing. It is Exhibit 50 for identification. Isn't that 
here yet? 

Mr. Sacher : I will take a glance. (Searching.) 
I am afraid it is not here. It is an ignominious 

confession to make, but I am afraid it is not here. 
The Court: I think that is very curious in view 

of the colloquy this morning, and my request is that 
all original exhibits be here in court. After that 
colloquy the least I would expect was that it would 
be "here. 

Mr. Isserm.an: We have sent word that they all 
be sent down, your Honor. 

The Court: What is that? 
Mr. Isserman: We have sent word that they 

all be brought here, and they may be in that room, 
and we will (2641) check it in a moment. 

The Court: All right, and I will take a five 
minute recess. 

(Short recess.) 

Mr. Isserman: If the Court please, we have not 
found the list amongst our papers here. We made 
another check at the office to see if they could lo­
cate it. I would suggest that being there are only 
seven names involved, that we proceed with those 
names and allow them to come in subject to any 
correction or check that may be made. 

The Court: What do you say to that, Mr. Mc­
Gohey7 

Mr. McGohey: I am agreeable to that. It would 
only hold up the witness to wait while we are get­
ting it from the clerk. 

The Court: Yes. And let us have it understood 
that from now on all the original exhibits are going 
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to be here in court every day. Now it should not 
be necessary to give such instructions as that be­
cause that is a commonly accepted way of doing in 
every kind of a trial. 

So let us go ahead. 
Mr. Isserman: It is our intention to have them 

here, and they will be here, your Honor. 
The Court: Yes. 

(2642) By Mr. Isserman: 

Q. Now Congressman, referring to the names fur­
nished you as on the December 20, 1948, panel, give us 
the name of the person, his ·classification and address, and 
then give us the facts concerning his address. A. Bed­
ford, Jr., F. H.; director; address, 10 Gracie Square. 
This is a 15-story building facing-

Q. You have already described that building, have you 
not 1 A. Yes, that is the one I described as super-swanky-

The Court : No. The other two in Gracie 
Square were 10 Gracie Square and One Gracie 
Square. 

The Witness: This is 10 Gracie Square. 
The Court: Oh, yes, that is right. He has de­

scribed that building, that is right. 
The Witness: He is a director of the Standard 

Oil Company of New Jersey. 
The ne~t one on that list is-the last name is 

Epting, Alexander L.; textiles; lives at 513 East 
86th Street. 

Now, this is not an elevator apartment; it is 
one of these expensive renovated brownstone apart­
ments. The rentals there range from $32 to $45 
per room. His business address is 40 Worth 
Street; connected with J. W. Valentine Company, 
Incorporated. 

(2643) Q. Would you give us his classification 1 A. 
It simply says textiles. 

The next one is Erlich, Edwin; president, lace and 
trimming jobber; Gem Lace Importing Company, 1261 
Broadway. He lives at 151 East 80th Street. And it is 
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on the corner of Lexington Avenue, 11-story elevator 
apartment house with a canopy, and the rentals there are 
$35 to $40 per room. 

The next is Mugridge, Clayton F., consultant; with the 
company of Dodge & Mugridge, 1270 Avenue of the 
Americas; he lives at 520 East 86th Street, a 15-story ele­
vator apartment, very swanky; rentals $35 and up. 

Q. Per room? A. Per room. You won't find an apart­
ment for $35 in there. This is $35 per room. 

The Court : There would be a lot of people run­
ning up to get them. 

The Witness: Sure would. .A lot of my people 
would like to get in for $35 an apartment. 

The next one is Storm, Carl C.; occupation, ex­
porter; Melchior, Armstrong & Dessau, Ridgefield, 
New Jersey; resides at 151 East 83rd Street; ele­
vator apartment, canopy, doorman; rentals, $30 to 
$35 a room. 

The next one is Tramel, Joseph ; mortgage ne­
gotiator; Manufacturers Trust Company, 55 Broad 
Street; lives at 1663 York Avenue. It is a reno­
vated house, no (2644) elevator. 

The last one is Winters, John H.; occupation, 
writer. 

The Court: Writerf 
The Witness: Correct. 
Geyer, Newell & Ganger, Incorporated, 745 Fifth 

.Avenue. He lives at 520 East 86th Street; 1·6-story 
apartment-

Q·. That is the one you just told us about Y A. That is 
right, that is the one with the canopy. 

The Court: That is the one Mugridge was in t 
The Witness: That is right, sir. Two in the 

same building. 

Q. Does that complete the seven names on the list as 
furnished to you~ A. That is right. 

(2645) Mr. Isserman: If the ·Court please, 
until the check is made with the list itself I think 
it might be well to take Challenge Exhibit 100-B for 
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identification, which contains the names from this 
panel, and offer it in evidence. 

The Court: Show it to Mr. McGohey. 
Mr. McGohey: No objection. 
The Court: All right. 

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 100-B for iden­
tification received in evidence.) 

Mr. Isserman: Now, if the Court please, I had 
further questions of this witness along the same line 
but will suspend those in the hope that he can be 
cross examined this afternoon because he does have 
to be in Congress on Monday. 

Am I correct about that~ 
The Witne.ss: Correct. 
The Court: When you say ''suspend,'' that 

seems to me that possibly you are considering him 
back again. 

Mr. Isserman: No, I will not for this-
The Court: All right, that is fine, very good. 
Have you any cross examination, Mr. McGohey? 
Mr. McGohey: I have no cross examination, 

your Honor. 
( 2646) The Court: Then I think we had better 

all run out as fast as we can and call it a day, 
unles.s you have another witness you want to start 
with. 

Mr. Isserman: No. I think this would be a 
good time. 

The Court: And, Congressman, you get right 
away before they think of something. 

The Witness: I notice you are awfully anxious 
to get rid of me. But it is quite all right. 

'rhe Court: No. But I should think you would 
be glad to get through because you told me you 
wanted to get back-

The Witness: Yes. 
The Court: And if you stay around somebody 

may think up something now. 
Mr. Is.serman: As a matter of fact, I already 

have, ·but I won't ask him. 
The Court: Good. I congratulate you then. 
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Now what is the other witness that you had f 
We hav'e about ten minutes. 

(2647) 

Mr. Isserman: Well, we have no other witness 
that is readily available at this moment. 

The Court : Then we will adjourn now until 
Monday morning at 10.30. 

(Adjourned to February 7, 1949, at 10.30 a. m.) 

* 

New York, February 7, 1949; 
10.30 a. m. 

( 2648) Mr. Cammer : If your Honor please, 
there is pending an application for intervention as 
amicus curiae in this case which was set over until 
this morning. 

The Court: That is right. 
Mr. Cammer: Do you want to wait until Mr. 

McGahey arrives or do you want to dispose of it 
now~ 

The Court : Well, I see no reason not to dispose 
of it now. Do you, Mr. Gordon~ 

Mr. Gordon: No, your Honor. 
The Court : It is not a rna tt€r on which argu­

ment is generally permitted, and I am not going to 
permit any now. So if there is no obje·ction I will 
decide it at once: 

The motion is granted in so far as leave to file 
( 2649) a brief is concerned. The motion is denied 
in so far as it is requested that oral argument be 
permitted. In deciding it that way I have decided 
it in accordance with the precedents in such matters, 
and I have only this to add: You had better get the 
brief in just as promptly as you can, because I will 
not agree to hold up the matter of the decision for 
any particular time pending the receipt of your brief. 
I will suggest that you try to have it to me by 
Wednesday of this week. 
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Mr. Cammer: Your Honor, I obviously can't 
get a brief in until the record has been completed 
in the matter before you. 

The Court: W,ell, that is just the thing that I 
am not going to agree to. Nothing that will delay 
this proceeding will be permitted. If you make your 
motion only upon condition that you put in the brief 
some period after the close of the testimony I will 
deny the motion. You must make your choice now. 

Mr. Cammer: I would like to put it in at the 
close of the testimony, your Honor, rather than 
any artificial date like Wednesday. 

The Court: You see, I have indicated to counsel 
here that I am going to do with this case, if pos­
sible, what I have commonly done with other cases 
since I have been on the bench here; that is to say, 
I follow the (2650) evidence with the greatest 
care; I study the authorities as the case goes along; 
and I announce my decision immediately upon the 
close of the evidence. Consequently if you desire 
to have that before n1e it will have to follow the 
same course that is applicable to briefs of counsel 
who are participating in the trial. So I ask you, is 
your motion upon condition that you be allowed to 
put the brief in after the close of the evidence, or 
will it suffice if I do as I have already indicated, 
namely, allow you to file the brief, let you take your 
chances as to the time you get it in whether it reaches 
me in time to be given consideration before I render 
my decision~ 

Mr. Cammer: I would prefer the latter, your 
Honor. 

The Court: Very well, upon that understanding 
I grant the motion to the extent indicated. 

Mr. Sacher: Mr. Tolman, please. 
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LELAND LocKE ToLMAN, called as a witness by the de­
fendants on the challenge, being first duly sworn, testified 
as follows: 

Direct exantination by Mr. Sacher: 

Q. 1Ir. Tolman, are you an attorney and counselor at 
law1 A. I am, sir. 

(2651) Q. When were you first admitted to the bar? 
A. In 1935. 

Q. In what court wer·e you admitted~ A. In the Court 
of Appeals of New York. 

Q. And have you been admitted to practice in any other 
court in the United States1 A. I have not. 

Q. What is that1 A. I have not. 
Q. Are you employed in the Administrative Office of the 

United States Courts~ A. I am. 
Q. How long have you been employed there? A. I was 

first employed there in 1940. 
Q. In what capacity did you enter the employ of that 

office1 A. As an attorney, in the Division of Procedural 
Studies and Statistics. 

Q. And what was the title of your position? A. I think 
when I first went in I was an attorney; my title was at­
torney. 

Q. Did your title change at any time there f A. Yes. 
Later I became assistant chief of the Division of Procedural 
Studies and Statistics. 

Q. And can you tell us in what year you became as­
sistant chief of the Division 1 A. I think it was 1941 but 
I couldn't be sure about it; I don't recall exactly. 

Q. That was a promotion, was it 1 A. In title only. _ 
Q. Who is the chief of the Division of Procedural 

(2652) Studies and Statistics 1 A. Mr. Will Shafroth. 
Q. Is he still the chief of that division f A. No, sir. 
Q. Are you second in command, so to speak, of the divi­

Kion 1 A. I am the assistant chief, yes. 
Q. How many employees all told are there in the Divi­

Hion of Procedural Studies and Statistics f A. I should 
say, altogether, approximately 25. It varies from time 
tn time. 
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Q. Who is the director of the Administrative Office1 
A. Mr. Henry P. Chandler is the Director. 

Q. Has he been the Director since the adoption or estab­
lishment of the Administrative office of the United States 
Courts in 1939 o? A. Well, the office was initially established 
and Mr. Elmore Whitehurst was appointed first as as­
sistant director and he acted as Director until Mr. Chand­
ler's appoinhnent by the Court a couple of months later. 
But he has been the only Director of the Administrative 
Office. 

Q. Were you employed in any capacity by the Govern­
ment of the United States prior to your appointment as 
attorney in the Administrative Office~ A. Yes. I was an 
attorney in the Department of Justice. 

Q. In which branch of the Departm·ent of Justice? 
(2653) A. Initially I was in the Administrative Division 
and I was assigned by the Attorney General to assist the 
Supreme Court in the formulation of the Federal Rules of 
Civil Procedure. 

Q. When did you receive your first appointment to 
the Department of Justice~ A. It was in 1936, I think. 
I am not perfectly sure of the year. 

~Q. That was approximately a year after your admis­
sion to the bar here in New York. And does that constitute 
all your federal service, that is, in the Department of 
Justice and in the Administrative Office~ A. Yes, it does, 
except for a period in the United States Navy. 

Q. During the late war. A. During the war. 
Q. What were your duties as attorney in the Division~ 

I am speaking now of the Division of the Administrative 
Office. A. Primarily I was to inspect the dockets of the 
courts to find out how much congestion there was in the 
dockets, where help might be needed, and things of that 
sort. In the course of that work I talked to Judges, clerks, 
lawyers. 

Q. Would you be good enough to keep your voice up, 
Mr. Tolman~ A. And all of the many general problems 
that they have I would make notes of and take back to 
Washington if it seemed to be necessary. 
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(2654) Q. Does that 1nean that you visited the various 
district courts and circuit courts of appeal throughout 
the country1 A. It does. It did. . 

Q. And did your duties change in any respect when 
you were appointed assistant chief of the Division of 
Procedural Studies and Statistics~ A. No, not materially. 

Q. Did you continue after you became assistant chief 
to visit the various district and circuit courts of appeal in 
connection ·with the performance of your duties~ A. I 
did. 

Q. Do you say that your function was primarily to ob­
tain data fron1 these various courts concerning the 
calendars and the nwven1ent of cases from time of com­
mencement to tiine of trial and disposition 1 A. That is 
correct. 

Q. That was the main burden of your worl\:, is that 
right1 A. That is correct. 

Q. And did you compile the information and the 
statistics that you gathered in connection with these visits 
and make reports fron1 ti1ne to tiine to your superior¥ A. 
Yes; I didn't n1ake statistical counts because that is done 
by reports fron1 the clerks by n1ail to our office. But I 
found out-supplemented statistical material by informa­
tion as to why certain types of cases ·were difficult to dis­
pose of, and that sort of thing. Not-

Q. Would it be correct to say that the quantitative 
(2655) inforn1ation carne from the clerks and that what 
you did was n1ake a qualitative analysis, so to speak, of what 
was contained in their report~ 

~1r. Gordon: That is objected to. 
1fr. Sacher: I am asking for what he did. 
The Court: Well, I think his description of it 

already given is sufficient. 

{(. \Vhen you received-

The Court : You said something, Mr. Tolman, 
about the appointn1ent of the Director and the chief 
of the division and your own appointm·ent. What 
court was that that made those appointments 1 
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is. 

The Witness: The director and the assistant 
director are appointed by the Supreme Court of 
the United States. I was appointed by the director 
and approved by the Supreme Court of the United 
States. 

Q. Is your position in the classified service~ A. Yes, it 

Q. You had to pass a Civil Service examination, did 
you~ A. No, I did not. 

Q. Now did there come a time some time in the year 
1940 when the director of the Administrative Office re­
quested you to o'btain information concerning the investiga­
tion of jurors and the administration of the jury system 
in the Southern District of New York~ (2656) A. When 
I was working-

Q. I would like a yes or no answer to that. 

The Court: You are not entitled to it, Mr. 
Sacher. 

(To the witness.) You go right ahead in your 
own way. 

Mr. Sacher : I respectfully except. 

A. When I was working here in the Southern District of 
New York on the dockets in 1940 Mr. Chandler received 
a letter from Judge St. Sure. 

Q. From whom~ A. Judge St. Sure, who was then the 
senior district judge in the Northern District of California, 
asking for information as to methods of jury selection 
generally, if we had it. 

Mr. Chandler wrote me and asked me if I could get 
him some information about the system in the Southern 
District of New York while I was here. 

Q. Do you have that letter or a copy of it with you t 
A. No, I do not. I have tried to find that letter but I can't 
find it. 

Q. A subpoena duces tecum was served on you, was it 
not, Mr. Tolman~ A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And you say you have made a search for this letter 
from Mr. Chandler. Where did you search~ A. Through 
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our files in the Administrative Office of the United States 
(2657) Courts. 

Q. Do you recall whether that was a typewritten letter 
or handwritten letter~ A. I think it was a handwritten 
letter. It may be that he told me orally. I looked for the 
letter and I couldn't find it. He may have told me orally 
to make that study. 

Q. And if he told you orally where did he tell it to 
you¥ Was it- A. In Washington, I suppose. 

Q. In your office in Washington f A. I suppose it must 
have been, yes. 

Q. And did he tell you that he wanted you to make 
this investigation in connection with the jury system as 
part of the work of the Administrative Office~ 

Mr. Gordon: I do not know of any testimony 
that he was told to make an investigation. I suggest, 
your Honor, that since Mr. Sacher has called Mr. 
Tolman as his witness he not lead him quite as much. 
I object to the leading questions. 

The Court: Well, it is just a question of a phrase 
here. 

Mr. Sacher: I can reframe the question. 
The Court: Perhaps without getting into a 

controversy on phraseology the question may be re­
framed. I think Mr. Sacher is merely trying to bring 
the mind of the witness back to what it was that 
he was told to do (2658) or asked to do by Mr. 
Chandler and what he proceeded to do. So, without 
a characterization you may reframe your question. 

Q. Is it not a fact, Mr. Tolman, that what Mr. Chandler 
asked you to do was to obtain information regarding the 
practice in administering the jury system in the Southern 
District of New York and particularly regarding the pre­
liminary investigation of jurors in that court~ A. I should 
say that is a very fair description. 

Q. As a matter of fact, do you recall the report that 
you submitted to Mr. Chandler~ A. I do. 

Q. And isn't it the fact that the description which I have 
just read is contained in the first paragraph of the report 

LoneDissent.org



1158 

Leland Locke Tolman-for Defenda.nts on Challenge­
Direct 

which you submitted to him; isn't that so 1 A. It sounds 
familiar. 

Q. You have had occasion, I take it, in the last few days 
to read that report over, have you? A. Yes. 

Q. When did you last read that, Mr. Tolman 1 A. Oh, I 
glanced over it coming up here on the train. 

Q. You came up on the train yesterday, did you? A. 
Yes. 

Q. And I take it you had a three and a half to four-hour 
train ride during which to read the memorandum; is that 
right1 

Mr. Gordon: Now, your Honor, this-
(2659) The Court: If you object to that, I 

sustain the .objection. 
Mr. Gordon: I object to it. 

Q. Do you recall the date on which you submitted your 
report in response to Mr. Chandler's request for the in­
formation you have described~ A. Of course, I do not 
remember the exact date. I think the memorandum is dated 
early in January. 

Q. Isn't it a fact that the memorandum is dated January 
2, 1941 ~ A. I think that is correct. 

Q. You don't have any doubt about it, do you~ A. Well, 
I-

Q. Do you wish to refresh your recollection by looking 
at it~ A. Well, I would not want to say positively other­
wise. 

Q. All right. 

The Court: Has that report not been referred 
to previously here? I think perhaps it was a part 
of your challenge papers. 

Mr. Sa·cher: It is, your Honor. 
The Court: What is the exhibit number? 
Mr. Gladstein: It has not been introduced as an 

exhibit. 
~1r. Sacher: It is not in evidence. 
Mr. Gladstein: It is part of the moving papers. 

( 2660) It is not in evidence as an exhibit. 
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The Court: I remember some rather extended 
argument about it, and I had it before me at one 
time, but I take it that that was just by way of 
argum·ent, and it is not one of the exhibits attached 
to the challenge. 

J\11r. Gladstein: Yes, it is. 
Mr. Sacher: It is Exhibit C annexed to the 

challenge. 
The Court: That is what I want to find. If you 

will just pause for a second. 
Mr. Sacher: Certainly. 
The Court: I have it. 

By Mr. Sacher: 

Q. Now having looked at the report, Mr. Tolman, can 
you tell us on what date you submitted it to Mr. Chandler? 
A. It is dated January 2, 1941. 

Q. Now, can you tell us how long before January 2, 1941, 
you embarked on your efforts to obtain the requested in­
formation 1 A. No, I am sorry, I can't tell you that; I 
can't recall. It must have be-en some time in the fall of 
1940, but the exact date I can't remember. 

Q. You would say, then, some time between September 
15th and the 1st of the year 1 A. I should think so. 

Q. Now, in your efforts to obtain the requested (2661) 
information did you have any conversations with the then 
senior judge, John C. Knox 1 A. Yes. 

Q. And can you tell us about how many conversations 
you had with Judge Knox on the subject of your inquiry? 
A. Oh, that would be very difficult. 

Q. It was a number of conversations in any event, is 
that right? A. Yes, I should say so. 

Q. And did you also have occasion to speak to Mr. 
Joseph McKenzie, the deputy jury clerk in the Southern 
District Court in connection with your inquiry~ A. Yes. 

Q. And would it be true to say that with him likewise 
you had a number of conversations concerning the subject 
of the jury system? A. I had one or two conversations 
with him. 

Q. With whom? A. With l\fr. l\fcKenzie. 
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Q. Did you have any conversations with Mr. George 
Follmer~ A. Yes. 

Q. Will you tell us who Mr. Follmer was at the time~ 
A. Mr. Follmer was then Clerk of the United States District 
Court for the Southern District of New York. 

Q. And did you have a number of conversations with 
him concerning the subject of the jury system 1 A. I spoke 
with him one or two times on it. 

Q. Is it correct to say that the most numerous conversa­
tions you had on the subject were with Judge Knox~ 

(2662) Nlr. McGohey: I object to the char­
acterization, your Honor. 

Mr. Sacher: I will reframe it. 
The Court: Sustained. What difference does it 

make how many conversations there were, Mr. 
Sacher1 

Mr. Sacher: Well, I am aiming to establish 
the weight to be given to the report, your Honor. I 
am establishing and I am seeking to establish, in 
other words, that the witness was familiar with the 
subject on which he reported to the Director of the 
Administrative Office. 

it. 

Am I needlessly 1 
The Court : I asked a question and you answered 

Mr. Sacher: Oh, I am sorry. 
The Court : I see no occasion for argument. 
Mr. Sacher: No. There is an objection. I under-

stand, to the question. I have not heard a ruling. 
The Court : Is there an unanswered question, 

Mr. Reporter f 

(Record read.) 

Mr. Sacher: You did rule. I had forgotten the 
ruling. 

By Mr. Sacher: 

Q. Did you have more conversations with Judge Knox 
than you had with Mr. McKenzie or Mr. Follmer1 A. That 
is a difficult question to answer. 
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(2663) Mr. Sacher: All right, if it is difficult, 
you just tell me and I will move on to something 
else. 

Q. Did you have any conversation with Judge Knox 
concerning the qualifications of the man who acted as deputy 
jury clerk at that time~ A. I think I did, yes. 

Q. And that man was Joseph McKenzie, is that right! 
A. Yes. 

Q. Will you be kind enough to produce, Mr. Tolman, 
the report of January 2, 1941, which you submitted to Mr. 
Chandler? A. Yes. 

Q. May I have it~ A. Yes (handing). 

Mr. Sacher: Will your Honor give me a moment 
to glance at this? 

The Court: Yes. 

Q. I notice on the outside folder which you have handed 
me a legend which reads, ''Folder No. 1-Memorandum to 
Mr. Henry P. Chandler by Leland L. Tolman,'' dated Feb­
ruary 2, 1941. A. That must be an error. 

Q. Is that an error? A. That must be an error, yes. 
Q. That is intended to be January 2, 1941? A. Yes. 

Mr. Sacher: I request that this report with a 
letter by ~Ir. Chandler annexed thereto, dated Feb­
ruary 5, 1941, be marked for identification, your 
Honor. And may I ask that they be marked 
separately; that is, Mr. Chandler's (2664) letter 
and the report~ 

The Court: They may be marked separately. 

(Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibits 102 and 
103 for identification.) 

The Court: Which is which, Mr. Clerk 1 
The Clerk: 103 will be the letter. 
The Court : 103 is the letter and 102 is the re­

port~ 

The Clerk : Yes. 
The Court: Very good. 
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By Mr. Sacher: 

Q. Is it correct to say, Mr. Tolman, that Challenge Ex­
hibit 102 for identification was the final draft of one or more 
reports in connection with this subject which you prepared 
prior to January 2, 1941 ~ 

Mr. :11cGoh€y: I object, your Honor. 
The Court : Sustained. 
:Mr. Sacher: \Veil, your I-Ionor, I wish to lay a 

foundation for smnething here. Won't you be good 
enough to take it in and then if it is not relevant 
it can always be stricken~ 

The Court : I see nothing of consequence in how 
many drafts there were. 

Mr. Sacher: All right. 

By Mr. Sacher: 

Q. Mr. Tolman, did you at any time send any draft of 
(2665) your report on this matter to anyone connected 
with the Southern District of New York, whether that be 
a tTudge, a clerk, or an attache of this court~ 

:Mr. McGohey: Objection. 
Th€ Court : Sustained. 

Q. Did you ever send a copy of your report prior to 
delivery thereof to ~1r. Chandler, to Judge l(nox ~ 

11r. :11cGohey: Objection. 
Th€ Court: Sustained. 
Mr. Sacher: I would like to be heard on that, 

your Honor. If this has the imprimatur of Judge 
Knox or those who gave the information to the wit­
ness, I r€spectfully submit that that is proper to be 
developed. 

The Court: Well, if he says he got information 
fron1 various sources and if he says what is in the 
report is accurate, I think that should suffice. 

Q. Is it correct to say that the information which you 
obtained fron1 Judge Knox, Mr. Folln1er and ~1r.1IcKenzie~ 
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